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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. \WWieantly own and operate a total of nine adult tafitbs that offer live adult entertainment,
restaurant and bar operations. Four of our clulesaip under the name "Rick's Cabaret" and foun@ttubs operate under the name "XTC".
Our nightclubs are in Houston, Austin and San Aitphexas; Charlotte, North Carolina; Minneapdlinnesota; and New York, New Yol
In June 2004, we converted our original Rick's Cabaightclub in Houston's Galleria District intGlub Onyx", an upscale venue that
welcomes all customers but cater especially torugrafessionals, businessmen and professionateshM/e also own and operate a sports
bar under the name of "Hummers" in Houston and omaperate premiere adult entertainment Interndisites.

Our online entertainment sites are xxxPassword.&@woaplesTouch.com, and NaughtyBids.com. The siiassword.com features adult
content licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Couptsgih.com is a personals site for those in the swinlifestyle. Naughtybids.com is our
online adult auction site. It contains consumetidted auctions for items such as adult videosaegdpphoto sets, adult paraphernalia and
other erotica. There are typically approximatelyODQ active auctions at this site at any given tile charge the seller a fee for each
successful auction. All of our sites use proprigtftware platforms written by us to deliver tresbexperience to the user without being
constrained by off-the-shelf software solutions.

Our website address is www.Ricks.com. We make abtglfree of charge our Annual Report on Form 1®KSuarterly Reports on Form
10-QSB, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and all amesmimto those reports as soon as reasonably @bletiafter such material is
electronically filed with the SEC under Securitieschange Act of 1934, as amended. Information ¢oathin the website shall not be
construed as part of this prospectus.

Reference to us includes our 100%-owned, 85%-ovameld51%-owned consolidated subsidiaries.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabare1 @83 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclubrimss was characterized by small
establishments generally managed by their owneer&@jmg policies of these establishments were déenthe sites were generally dimly lit,
standards for performers' personal appearanceemsdmmality were not maintained and it was custorfarperformers to alternate between
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and qualitbar service was low and food was not frequyeofiered. Music was usually "hard"
rock and roll, played at a loud level by a disk@g Usually, only cash was accepted. Many busmesasfelt uncomfortable in such
environments. Recognizing a void in the marketafdirst-class adult nightclub, we designed Ricléb&ret to target the more affluent
customer by providing a unique quality entertaintevironment. The following summarizes our arefagparation that distinguish us:

Female Entertainment. Our policy is to maintairhhégandards for both personal appearance and @ditgdor the topless entertainers and
waitresses. Of equal importance is a performeilgyatn present herself attractively and to talklwcustomers. We prefer that
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the performers we hire be experienced dancers. ke m determination as to whether a particularieg is suitable based on such factors
of appearance, attitude, dress, communicatiorsskiltl demeanor. At all clubs, except for our Mimt@&$ocation, the entertainers are
independent contractors. We do not schedule thaik Wours.

Management. We often recruit staff from inside thy@ess industry, as well as from large restauaadtclub chains, in the belief that
management with experience in the sector addsrtalility to grow and attract quality entertaindianagement with experience is able to
train new recruits from outside the industry.

Compliance Policies/[Employees. We have a policgnsfuring that our business is carried on in conityrmith local, state and federal laws.
In particular, we have a "no tolerance" policy adllegal drug use in or around the premises. Pegtiaced throughout the nightclubs
reinforce this policy, as do periodic unannounceatehes of the entertainers' lockers. Entertagmetswvaitresses who arrive for work are not
allowed to leave the premises without the permissfomanagement. If an entertainer does leaverégmipes, she is not allowed to return to
work until the next day. We continually monitor thehavior of entertainers, waitresses and custotoeygsure that proper standards of
behavior are observed.

Compliance Policies/Credit Cards. We review altltreard charges made by our customers. We hapkage a formal policy requiring that
all credit card charges must be approved, in vgijtby management before any charges are acceptthddment is trained to review credit
card charges to ensure that the only charges apgfov payment are for food, drink and entertaintnen

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the suecé®ur branded adult nightclubs is a qualitystfitlass bar and restaurant operation to
compliment our adult entertainment. We employ sErvhanagers who recruit and train professionalsteditand ensure that each customer
receives prompt and courteous service. We emplefsahith restaurant experience. Our bar manageler amventory and schedule bar staff.
We believe that the operation of a first classaastnt is a necessary component to the operatiarpcgmiere adult cabaret, as is the provi
of premium wine, liquor and beer in order to enghid the customer perceives and obtains good v@luerestaurant operations provide
business lunch buffets and full lunch and dinnenuservice with hot and cold appetizers, saladspse, steak, and lobster. An extensive
selection of quality wines is available.

Controls. Operational and accounting controls aseetial to the successful operation of a cashsite nightclub and bar business. We have
designed and implemented internal procedures amilate designed to ensure the integrity of our apenal and accounting records.
Wherever practicable, we separate management peisivom all cash handling so that managemenbisiied from and does not handle any
cash. We use a combination of accounting and palisigentory control mechanisms to maintain a Hegtel of integrity in our accounting
practices. Information technology plays a significeole in capturing and analyzing a variety obimhation to provide management with the
information necessary to efficiently manage andmthe nightclub. Deposits of cash and creditiagaceipts are reconciled each day to a
daily income report. In addition, we review on aydhasis (i) cash and credit card summaries whihogether all cash and credit card
transactions occurring at the front door, the lrathe club and the cashier station, (ii) a sumnudrhe daily bartenders' check-out reports,
and (iii) a daily cash requirements analysis whiatonciles



the previous day's cash on hand to the requirenf@ntse next day's operations. These daily comretgorts alert management of any
variances from expected financial results basekiistorical norms. We conduct a monthly indepenaeetrview of our financial condition
and operating results.

Atmosphere. We maintain a high design standardiirfaxilities and decor. The furniture and furnigds in the nightclubs are designed to
create the feeling of an upscale restaurant. Thedseystem is designed to provide quality sourldwels where conversations can still take
place. The environment is carefully monitored farsic selection, entertainer and waitress appeammtall aspects of customer service on a
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on servimgupper-end of the businessmen's market, somer ofightclubs include a VIP room,
which is open to individuals who purchase membesshh VIP room provides a higher level of servioe &uxury.

Advertising and Promotion. Our consumer marketimgtsgy is to position Rick's Cabarets as prensgatertainment facilities that provide
exceptional topless entertainment in a fun, yatrdist, environment. We use a variety of highly ééed methods to reach our customers: f
publications, local radio, cable television, newsga, billboards, taxi-cab reader boards, andriteariet, as well as a variety of promotional
campaigns. These campaigns ensure that the Riakar& name is kept before the public.

Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amountedia exposure over the years in national magazueh as Playboy, Penthouse, Glamour
Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time Magazind,Teexas Monthly Magazine. Segments about Rickie la&ed on national and local
television programs such as "Extra" and "Insiddifudi, and we have provided entertainers for Pa\Rew features as well. Business
stories about Rick's Cabaret have appeared in TdeStteet Journal, Los Angeles Times, Houston Bess Journal, and numerous other
regional publications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name "Rickisatet" in Houston, Texas, Minneapolis, MinnesGtaarlotte, North Carolina, and New
York, New York. We also operate a nightclub in Homss Galleria District as "Club Onyx", an upscaésmue that welcomes all customers but
caters especially to urban professionals, businessnd professional athletes. Additionally, we dawr nightclubs in San Antonio, Austin,
and Houston, Texas that operate under the name WECalso own a controlling interest in and opeeagports bar called "Hummers". We
sold our New Orleans nightclub in March 1999, bebintinues to use the name "Rick's Cabaret" uadieensing agreement. In early 2003,
we acquired 51% control of the Wild Horse Cabadetitanightclub near Hobby Airport, Houston, Texasl @perate it as part of our popular
XTC Cabaret group. In May 2003, we opened a spmatsalled "Hummers", which is located next to Whldrse Cabaret, in Houston, Texas.

RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On March 3, 2004, we acquired the assets anddsssof a 7,000 square foot gentlemen's club itiNidouston, which became our fourth
XTC Cabaret. As a part of the transaction, we edténto a new five-year lease with an option fgefadditional years. The $265,000 all-cash
purchase transaction generated goodwill of $20a0@Dproperty and equipment at
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$245,000.
The results of operations of this new venue arkidex in the accompanying consolidated financietleshents from the date of acquisition.

2. In April 2003, we organized RCI Ventures, Incacquire Nocturnal Concepts, Inc., which operatean addition to our XTC Cabaret
group, called "XTC Galleria". As part of this tragsion, we transferred our ownership of Tantriceptises, Inc. (our subsidiary that oper:
Club Encounters) to RCI Ventures, Inc. As a resfithese transactions we owned a 51% interest inNR@tures, Inc. On September 30,
2004, we sold our shares in RCI Ventures, Incnt@hated third parties for $15,000 cash and a $®8bnote receivable with an annual
interest rate of 6% over five years. As a parheftransaction, the Purchaser entered into a #a-fease for Club Encounters with an option
for five additional years. We recorded a $163,78&ded gain related to this transaction for tharynded September 30, 2004. The gain
be recognized upon collection of the note recewabl

The club's business was accounted for as discatinperations under accounting principles geneealtepted in the United States of
America and therefore, the club's results of opamatand cash flows have been removed from the @ayip consolidated results of
continuing operations and cash flows for all pesipdesented in this document.

3. On September 15, 2004, our wholly-owned subsidRCI Entertainment (New York), Inc., a New Yar&rporation, entered into a
definitive Stock Purchase Agreement with PeregEnterprises, Inc., a New York corporation and litareholders, pursuant to which RCI
New York agreed to purchase all of the shares ofraon stock of Peregrine. Peregrine owned and agubeat adult entertainment cabe
located in midtown Manhattan. The cabaret clulbdsited near the Empire State Building and Madisqum& Garden, and is less than 10
blocks from Times Square. We completed this traiimaon January 18, 2005.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemempuhchase price of the transaction was $7,625@9@&ble $2,500,000 in cash at closing
and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory note beaiingle interest at the rate of 4.0% per annum.Hiteenissory Note is payable
commencing 120 days after Closing as follows: if@)gayment of $58,333.33 per month for twenty-four

(24) consecutive months; (b) the payment of $63B38r twenty-four (24) consecutive months; (@ frmyment of $68,333.33 for twelve
(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymthte remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is conléetinto shares of our restricted common stockiaep ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per
share. The parties also entered a Stock Pledgecmgmet and Security Agreement to secure the Promidate.

Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of g@ne entered into a fivgear covenant not to compete with Peregrine, RG¥ Merk or the
Company. After an extensive renovation, we opehectlub in September 2005 as "Rick's Cabaret", wbarupies 10,000 square feet on
three levels, with an additional 4,000 square &@ilable for office space.

The results of operations of the club are inclusleolur consolidated statement of operations fronuday 18, 2005.
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4. On March 31, 2005, we entered an Stock Purchgesement with MBG Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware lted liability company to sell all

of the issued and outstanding shares of RCI Eimentnt (Houston), Inc., our wholly owned subsidjaspich owned and operated an adult
entertainment cabaret known as Rick's Cabaret thSocated at 15301 Gulf Freeway, Houston, Texas. Agreement provided for a sales

price of $550,000, which was paid in cash uponietpsVe recorded a gain of $291,987.

The club's business was accounted for as discatinperations under accounting principles geneaatepted in the United States of
America and therefore, the club's results of opematand cash flows have been removed from the @ogip consolidated results of
continuing operations and cash flows for all pesipdesented in this document and such assetsailitiis as of September 30, 2004 have
been netted in one line item on the balance sheet.

5. On June 10, 2005, our wholly owned subsidiagl Rntertainment (North Carolina), Inc., a Northr@ana corporation entered a Purchase
Agreement with Top Shelf, LLC, a North Carolinaiied liability company and Tony Hege, the holdefTop Shelf's membership interests
purchase all of the issued and outstanding memipeirgierests of Top Shelf which owns a nightclulowm as "The Manhattan Club" located
in Charlotte, North Carolina. RCI North CarolinassHzeen managing the Club under the name "Rick'si@8tsince February 2005.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase pfi$1,000,000 which is payable with 180,000 shafeour common stock (the
"Shares") valued at $3.75 per share (the "Valub®Shares") and a seven year promissory notéNie") in the amount of $325,000
bearing interest at the rate of 7% per annum. Ttite Ié payable with an initial payment due Novenhe2005, of interest only for the period
of time from the date of Closing until October 2005, plus a principal reduction payment in the amt@f $3,009.29. Thereafter, RCI North
Carolina will make eighty-three (83) successiveatauonthly payments commencing December 1, 200prin€ipal and interest in the
amount of $4,905.12 until paid in full. The Notesiscured by the assets of RCI North Carolina.

Pursuant to the terms of the Note, on or after Ndyer 1, 2005, Hege shall have the right, but netthligation to have Rick's purchase from
Hege 4,285 Shares per month (the "Monthly Sharealgulated at a price per share equal to $3.7bHege has received a total of
$1,000,000 from the sale of the Shares less theianod the Note. At our election during any givennth, we may either buy the Monthly
Shares or, if we elect not to buy the Monthly Skdrem Hege, then Hege shall sell the Monthly Shamghe open market. Any deficiency
between the amount which Hege receives from treecfahe Monthly Shares and the Value of the Shsina#i be paid by us within three (3)
days of the date of sale of the Monthly Sharesnduifiat particular month. Our obligation to purehéise Monthly Shares from Hege shall
terminate and cease at such time as Hege hasedaiwotal of $1,000,000 from the sale of the Shdess the amount of the Note.

The results of operations of the club are incluisheolur consolidated statement of operations froforéary 1, 2005, when we assumed risk of
loss for the club's operations under a managengeatment.



BUSINESS ACTIVITIES --INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT WEB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet Web site operati@ur xxxPassword.com website features adult abtitmnsed through Voice Media, Inc.
We added CouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a datingaigzing to those in the swinging lifestyle. Weenetty purchased CouplesClick.net, a
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireotd broaden our membership throughout the UrStates. As part of this transaction, we
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operagean addition to our internet operations, to aeqbouplesClick.net from ClickMatch,
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouamdo RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactice obtained an 85% interest in F
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasehof traffic from third-party adult sites or Imtet domain owners and the purchase of
banner advertisements or "key word" searches fraariet search engines. In addition, the bulk oftaiffic now comes from search engines
on which we don't pay for preferential listings.efé& are numerous adult entertainment sites omthenket that compete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otdeitanaterials that are purchased in a bid-ask atetWe charge the seller a fee for each
successful auction. Where previously we operatedhsividual auctions sites, now we have combirtegse into one main site,
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redagnof this site. The site contains new and usidtariented consumer initiate
auctions for items such as adult videos, appaheltqsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBidsjppsoximately 10,000 items for sale at
any given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third pastgbmasters an opportunity to create residual inciopame web surfers through the
NaughtyBids Affiliate Program, which pays third pawebmasters a percentage of every closing austtmin which the buyer original
came from the affiliate webmaster's site. Therenaraerous auction sites on the Internet that affledt products and erotica.

TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of ourammmmon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegaice of $918,700 (or $795,302
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals appratéty $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasvbmlarket value on the date of the
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns noneuofshares of common stock. These shares are fiyelelu as treasury shares. We may
cancel these shares at a later date. The contsbpef Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was aedator until June 2002. The terms of this
transaction were the result of arms-length negotiatbetween Voice Media, Inc. and us. We beliéecttansaction was favorable to us in
view of the market value of our common stock arelghyment terms, although no appraisal or fairnopgson was done. All management
contracts previously signed relating to the managgerof xxxPassword.com will remain in effect. Pansuto the transaction, the payment
schedule is as follows:

(&) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2003;

(b) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2004;

(c) The amount of $229,675 due on January 10, 2808;

(d) A final payment in the amount of $229,675 duelanuary 10, 2006.

We are current on these payments.



TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purdk@eement with Taurus Entertainment Companies, imereby we acquired all the
assets and liabilities of Taurus in exchange f@63,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,002,0084kaiwned plus $20,000 in cash. We also
executed an Indemnification and Transaction Feedment with Taurus for which we received $270,000aish, with $140,000 payable at
closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $70,@@0ath August 15, 2003. We have received the $6(89mMhent and have restructured the
remaining balance originally due August 15, 200Bhw note receivable bearing 12% annual interest a five year term. Taurus is not
current in its payment obligation and we have atéd steps to collect the amount owing.

COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgisihricompetitive with respect to price, service éoahtion. All of our nightclubs compete
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somevbbse names may have name recognition that ethadlsf Rick's Cabaret or XTC.

While there may be restrictions on the locatiom ab-called "sexually oriented business", therenarkarriers to entry into the adult cabaret
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstiosa, all of which are in direct
competition with our Houston cabarets. In MinneégpdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd &na short walk from the Metrodor
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two adiylitclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition Wits. In Charlotte, there are 5 main
competitors. We are centrally located with easyas¢o our location from the airport and the spetadiums. There are approx 16 adult clubs
in Manhattan of which 7 compete with Rick's. Onhemf those competitors' is located in Mid-townck location is one block from the
Empire State Building and one block from Madison&g Garden. All the local trains have station stwjth one block of Rick's location a
we are located just 9 blocks from Times Square.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret" and "XT®&at" are proprietary. We believe that the comtmnaof our existing brand name
recognition and the distinctive entertainment emwinent that we have created will allow us to commdtectively in the industry and within
the cities where we operate. Although we beliea te are well positioned to compete successftiigre can be no assurance that we wi
able to maintain our high level of name recognitonl prestige within the marketplace.

We are subject to various federal, state and laged affecting our business activities. In particuin Texas the authority to issue a permit to
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXash®lic Beverage Commission, which has the aution its discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. We presently hold a Mixed Bage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. These Permetsubject to annual renewal,
provided we have complied with all rules and retiofes governing the permits. Renewal of a permstilsject to protest, which may be made
by a law enforcement agency or by the public. ldkent of a protest, the TABC may hold a hearinghach time the views of interested
parties are expressed. The TABC has the authdtiy such hearing not to issue a renewal of théegted alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's
has never been the subject of a protest hearirigsighe renewal of Permits. Minnesota, North Gamland New York have similar laws tl
may limit the availability of a permit to sell alcolic beverages or that may provide for suspensiaevocation of a permit to sell alcoholic
beverages in certain circumstances. It is our pppcior to expanding into any new market, to tateps to ensure compliance with all
licensing and regulatory requirements for the sékglcoholic beverages as well as the sale of food.
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In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Houstmi in many other cities, the location of a
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by ciyimance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texasabgect to "The Sexually Oriented Business
Ordinance", which contains prohibitions on the tamaof an adult cabaret. The prohibitions dealegaly with distance from schools,
churches, and other sexually oriented businessksantain restrictions based on the percentagesidences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting afxu8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjedtisaretion; the Business Permit must be
granted if the proposed operation satisfies thairements of the Ordinance. (See "Legal Proceetingsin.)

In Minneapolis, we are required to be in compliangth state and city liquor licensing laws. Ourdtion in Minneapolis is presently zoned to
enable the operation of a topless cabaret. We avetaintiff in civil litigation against the defenaaCity of Minneapolis. On September 16,
2003, the suit was settled mainly on the basistti@City of Minneapolis will enact a late hourfgeoation ordinance and allows qualifying
liquor establishments, including us at our curtenation, to operate until 3:00 a.m. We believe,thmathe long run, the restoration of late
hours operation on a permanent basis is prefetalgeing forward with the litigation and in our bésterest.

In San Antonio and Austin, Texas, we are requiceblet in compliance with city or county sexuallyemed business ordinances. In New
York, we will be required to be in compliance wi state and local laws governing the sale ofdigand zoning for adult oriented
businesses. We feel we are in compliance with thege at this time. In Charlotte we are requirebéan compliance with city or county
sexually oriented business ordinances.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, baseu ayposubstantial and continuous use
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinemst as early as 1987. We have registered ouceanark, 'RICK'S AND STARS
DESIGN", with the United States Patent and Tradé&nfice. We have also obtained service mark regjisins from the Patent and
Trademark Office for the "RICK'S CABARET" serviceank. There can be no assurance that the stepsweetdieen to protect our service
marks will be adequate to deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2005, we had approximatelyetflloyees, of which 64 are in management positiongjding corporate and
administrative operation and approximately 379 bfolh are engaged in entertainment, food and beeesaryice, including bartenders,
waitresses, and entertainers. None of our emplogeesepresented by a union and we consider oulogarelations to be good.
Additionally, we have independent contractor relaships with more than 600 entertainers, who dfeesgployed and perform at our
locations on a non-exclusive basis as independeritactors. Our entertainers in Minneapolis, Mirotasact as commissioned employees.
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SHARE REPURCHASES

As of December 5, 2005 we owned 908,530 treasuakeshof our common stock that we acquired in oparket purchases and from
investors who originally acquired the shares fr@mruprivate transactions. At this time, we do Inate any plan to use these shares to ac
any assets.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizémb us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcoummon stock. No shares have been
purchased under this program.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located at 1095®ten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 which consistsl000 square feet office/warehouse
building. We purchased this property in mid Decen#@94 for $512,739, payable with $86,279 casHaating and $426,460 in a promissory
note carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. Thethly payment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2@@5palance of the mortgage was
$414,057. The last mortgage payment is due in 20/9believe that our offices are adequate for oesgnt needs and that suitable space
be available to accommodate our future needs.

We own two locations of Rick's Cabaret (one in Honsand one in Minneapolis), Club Onyx, and the l@eations of XTC (one in Austin
and one in San Antonio). We own the location of &mtters club in Houston, which is currently undsade to RCI Ventures, Inc. We lease
XTC Wildhorse, Hummers, XTC North, Rick's New Yodqd Rick's Charlotte locations.

Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, hasaggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In Dexe2ib4, we paid off the old mortgze
and obtained a new one with initial balance of $0,800 and interest rate of 10% per annum overyeafterm. The money received from
this new note was used to finance the acquisitfdtheNew York club. As of September 30, 2005, lhance of the mortgage was
$1,256,224. During fiscal year 2005, we paid $1&,@25monthly principal and interest payments. Témt mortgage payment is due in 2015.

The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt Drivélmuston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Noger2b04, we obtained a mortgage
using this property as collateral. The principdbbae of the new mortgage is $1,042,000, with amuahinterest rate of 10% over a 10 year
term. The money received from this new note was tséinance the acquisition of the New York clés. of September 30, 2005, the bala
of the mortgage was $1,029,231. The monthly paymgptincipal and interest is $10,056. The last tg@ge payment is due in 2014.

The Rick's Cabaret, located in Minneapolis, hagd® square feet of space. The balance, as of Sbpte30, 2005, that we owed on the
mortgage is $2,035,303 and the interest rate isW&opay $22,732 in monthly principal and interesgrpents. The last mortgage payment is
due in 2008 with a balloon payment of $1,794,432.

The XTC nightclub in Austin has 8,600 square fdetpace, which sits on 1.2 acres of land. In Au@@§t5, we restructured the mortgage by
extending the term to 10 years. The balance ofrtbegage that we owed as of September 30, 20084i8,857 with an interest rate of 11%
and monthly principal and interest payments of $3,4n November 2004, we obtained an additionaltgagre. The principal balance of the
new mortgage is $900,000, with an annual inteast of 11% over a 10 year term. In June and JUbp 2@e obtained additional funds in the
amount of $200,000. In August 2005 we combinedatiiditional funds into the $900,000 mortgage. The
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money received from this new note was used to fiadhe acquisition and renovation of the New YddbcThe monthly principal and
interest payment is $15,034. The last paymentbdtir mortgages are due in 2015.

We own XTC nightclub in San Antonio, which has Q&guare feet of space. In November 2004, we oddaanmortgage using this property
as collateral. The principal balance of the newtgage is $590,000, with an annual interest ratE086 over a 10 year term. The money
received from this new note was used to financetiyiisition and renovation of the New York cluls & September 30, 2005, the balance
of this mortgage was $582,770. The monthly principal interest payment is $5,694. The last mortgeyenent is due in 2014.

The property where Encounters is located has 8&60@re feet of space. In December 2004, we paitheffnortgage we previously had. In
November 2004, together with property in Austins firoperty was used as an additional collaterakture the $900,000 mortgage ab
Beginning November 2004, we began receiving a nipmtlase payment from Tantric Enterprises, Incheamount of $4,000 for this space.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owns a 3&6€re ranch in Brazoria County, Texas, and approéin®0 acres of raw land in Wise Cout
Texas.

The balance as of September 30, 2005 that we owleeoBrazoria County ranch mortgage is $289,308thadnterest rate is 9%. We pay
$2,573 in monthly principal and interest paymefitse last mortgage payment is due in March 2006 witlalloon payment of $287,920.

The balance as of September 30, 2005 that we owleeowWise County raw land mortgage is $140,802thadnterest rate is 12%. We pay
$1,537 in monthly principal and interest paymefmtse last mortgage payment is due in March 2026.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereXa@ Wildhorse is located. The lease term is foefiears, with an additional five-year
lease option thereafter. The initial base renti845 monthly for the first two years ending July 2004, with an annual increase of $570
thereafter.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, wheréltimamers is located. The lease term is for five geaith an additional five-year lease
option thereafter. The initial base rent is $2,@@hthly for the first two years ending April 30,@) with an annual increase of $325
thereafter.

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereX@@ North is located. The lease term is for fivagge beginning March 2004, with an
additional five-year lease option thereafter. Thanthly rent is $8,000 until August 31, 2006, at efhtime the monthly base rent increases to
$9,000.

We lease the property in New York City, New Yorlheave our Rick's Cabaret NYC is located. We assuimeeéxisting lease which will
terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent is $4Q12éntil May 2006, at which time the monthly basetiecreases to $41,469. Under the t
of the existing lease, the base rent will incraasapproximately 3% each year.

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Carolimbaere our Rick's Cabaret Charlotte is located.as&imed the existing lease which will
terminate in June 2009, with an additional fixear lease option thereafter. The monthly ren2® @0 monthly until July 2007, at which tii
the monthly base rent will increase to $23,000.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, TE XAS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofudton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguthg location of and the conduct
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the "Ordindncehe Ordinance established new minimum distaticasSexually Oriented Businesses
may be located from schools, churches, playgroandsother sexually oriented businesses. There mepgovisions in the Ordinance
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9B¥1we were informed that one of our
Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive failed toatie requirements of the Ordinance and accorglihg renewal of our Business License
at that location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagde renewal of its operating permit due to clearig distance requirements under the
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the "Amortization Periodf'fhe owner were unable to recoup, by
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investnienie business that was incurred through the dfatiee passage and approval of the
Ordinance.

We filed a request with the City of Houston reqirstn extension of time during which operationswatnorth Houston facility could
continue under the Amortization Period provisiohthe Ordinance since we were unable to recouprmastment prior to the effective date
of the Ordinance. An administrative hearing wasitl the City of Houston to determine the apprdpriamortization Period to be granted to
us. At the Hearing, we were granted an amortizgtieniod that has since been reached. We havegheto appeal any decision of the
Hearing official to the district court in the StatETexas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodility of the entire Ordinance was
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the UD&trict Court for the Southern District of Tex&tguston Division, struck down certain
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prouwisinandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldisahools, churches and other sexually
oriented business, leaving intact the provisiothef750 foot distance as it existed prior to thdi@ance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Csuitings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houston is
successful in the appeal, we could be out of caanpk and such an outcome could have an adversetiompaur future. Our nightclub in our
south Houston location has a valid permit/licers will expire in December 2005. The permits far north Houston location and our
Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texalnance, such as provisions governing the levégbfing in a sexually oriented business,
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlm¢ which may be detrimental to our business. Wepncert with other sexually orient
businesses, are appealing these aspects of theaDcei.

In November, 2003, a three judge panel from th#hFfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Court's rulir
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjom distances and licensing of dancers and. Staff Court of Appeals, however, did not
follow the Trial Court's ruling regarding the dista from which a club may be located from a
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church or school. The Court of Appeals held thdistance measurement of 1,500 feet would be upimdd a showing by the City of
Houston that its claims that there were alternagites available for relocating the clubs couldsbbstantiated. The case was remanded for
trial on the issue of the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could amfditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigdre not decided at the trial level during
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thalM@ourt. The City has not sought to modify any
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenadrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Coulitigslin 1998 has been exhausted. The Trial Castdntered a new scheduling order which
places trial on the remaining issues for June 20@@ler the holding of the Fifth Circuit Court of pgals, the City of Houston has the burden
of proof to show that, under the distance measunésreontained in the 1997 ordinance, there are @80 alternate sites available for
relocation. If the City of Houston can meet thigiah burden, then the Trial Court will consideetremaining location issues which were not
decided during the initial summary phase of theechsthe event the City of Houston can meet itslbn and the Trial Court moves forward
with the case, an appeal is anticipated. A rulingh® remaining issues in favor of the City of Homscould have an adverse impact on the
Rick's locations in Houston, Texas.

OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On May 2, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Unitedt8s District Court for the Western District ofXés, San Antonio division, on behalf of
XTC Cabaret, and others, as a result of the Citgasf Antonio having adopted a new ordinance, wlanigng other things, banned nude
dancing. This suit asked the Court to declare td&ance unconstitutional and enjoin the City frenforcing it. Prior to a resolution of this
litigation, XTC Cabaret withdrew as a party to thesuit. Although a settlement was reached withrémeaining parties in June 2005, it did
not include nude dancing. XTC has elected to addfes constitutionality of the ordinance by appegakny conviction obtained by the City
through the state courts.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 80tiditial District Court of Harris County, Texas, Ity Cause No. 2004-18510, Charity Renee
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, €eflaik is a wrongful death and personal injury acagainst two individuals based on
negligence theories and five entertainment estahints including Rick's based on alleged "dram shimgations arising from a two-car
collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Gmamy under a theory of products liability. Plaifgiinclude the children of the decedents, a
minor passenger and the mothers of the deceddaistif’s are seeking unspecified damages inclugihgsical pain and suffering, mental
anguish, pecuniary loss, past and future loss wipamionship and consortium, loss of mental andléttial function, past and future
physical impairment, reduction in earning capaditgreased education costs and expenses includivegdl and medical costs.

Management believes that we are not liable forafrthe damages and that we are covered by théhaaber provisions of the Dram Shop
Act, which render certain compliant establishmesliable for the acts of their patrons. We areaware of any insurance coverage for this
claim. We deny that we have any liability for trezi@ent and are vigorously defending the matter.

Discovery is ongoing and we have filed a Motion $3sammary Judgment on behalf of Rick's which isentty pending.
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ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We held our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on Rihe2005. The results of the meeting have beenodisd in our quarterly report Form
10-QSB for the period ending June 30, 2005.

PART Il

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELA TED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND SMALL
BUSINESS ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCapkdt under the symbol "RICK" The following tabkts forth the quarterly high
and low of sales prices per share for the commaecksOur fiscal year ended September 30, 2005.

COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW
Fiscal 2004

First Quarter. $1.84 $1.50
Second Quarter $2.84 $1.74
Third Quarter. $3.30 $2.40
Fourth Quarter $2.79 $2.21

Fiscal 2005

First Quarter. $3.03 $2.20
Second Quarter $4.61 $2.85
Third Quarter. $3.19 $2.65
Fourth Quarter $3.55 $2.70

On December 23, 2005, the last sales price focoinemon stock as reported on the NASDAQ SmallCapkbtaras $3.74. On December 23,
2005, there were approximately 1,300 stockholdérsanrd of the common stock.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR
The transfer agent and registrar for our commocksi® American Stock Transfer & Trust Company.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend p qash dividends on our common stock in the foraskeefuture. Our current policy is to
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds f@ecation and expansion of our business. The dedaraf dividends, if any, will be subject to
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which ntaysider such factors as our results of operafioancial condition, capital needs and
acquisition strategy, among others.

13



On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aiz#d us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofcommmon stock. No shares have been
purchased under this program.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compemsafplans as of September 30, 2005:

NUMBER OF SECURITI
ISSUED UPON EXERC
OUTSTANDING OPTIONS,

AND RIGHTS
PLAN CATEGORY (A)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 878,000
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders 0
TOTAL 878,000

RE
ES TO BE FUTU
ISE OF WEIGHTED-AVERAGE EXERCISE
WARRANTS PRICE OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, (EXCLU
WARRANTS AND RIGHTS

®)

$ 2.47

NUMBER OF SECURITIES
MAINING AVAILABLE FOR
RE ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY
COMPENSATION PLANS
DING SECURITIES REFLECTED
IN COLUMN (A))
©)

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attendoard meetings. In September 2005, we
issued 10,000 options to each Director who is a begrof our audit committee and 5,000 options toaiber Directors. These options have a
strike price of $2.80 per share and expire in 20140.

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting arainiglg qualified personnel, we believe that ouufatsuccess will depend in part on our
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfiatl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
that equity ownership is an important factor in ability to attract and retain skilled personnele Wave adopted stock option plans (the
"Plans") for employees and directors. The purpdshePlans is to further our interests, our subsiels and our stockholders by providing
incentives in the form of stock options to key eaygles and directors who contribute materially tosuccess and profitability. The grants
recognize and reward outstanding individual perfomoes and contributions and will give such persopsoprietary interest in us, thus
enhancing their personal interest in our continsieztess and progress. The Plans also assist usiasdbsidiaries in attracting and retaining
key employees and directors. The Plans are admieiby the Board of Directors. The Board of Dioesthas the exclusive power to select
the participants in the Plans, to establish themsesf the options granted to each participant, idexv’that all options granted shall be granted
at an exercise price equal to at least 85% ofdherfarket value of the common stock covered byotiteon on the grant date and to make all
determinations necessary or advisable under thesPla

In 1995 we adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan"(tB85 Plan™). A total of 300,000 shares could benggd and sold under the 1995 Plan, all
of which were not exercised and have expired. Wadat@lan to issue any additional options underli®@5 Plan.

In August 1999 we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Rlze "1999 Plan") with 500,000 shares
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authorized to be granted and sold under the 1989. i August 2004, shareholders approved an Amentlito the 1999 Plan (the
"Amendment") which increased the total number afreh authorized to 1,000,000. As of September @05,2878,000 stock options are
presently outstanding under the 1999 Plan, witBG® pf which have been exercised.

RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2005, welated the following transactions in reliance ugsemptions from registration under
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") mwided in Section 4(2) thereof. All certificatesiied in connection with these transactions
were endorsed with a restrictive legend confirntimgg the securities could not be resold withoutstegtion under the Act or an applicable
exemption from the registration requirements ofAlse None of the transactions involved a publitedhg, underwriting discounts or sales
commissions. We believe that each person was diflgdainvestor within the meaning of the Act ahdd knowledge and experience in
financial and business matters, which allowed the®valuate the merits and risks of our securiitseh person was knowledgeable abou
operations and financial condition.

1. On July 22, 2005, we entered into a securedenible debenture with one of our shareholderafprincipal sum of $660,000 which bears
interest at the rate of 12% per annum. The teriorithree years. The debenture matures on AuguXd8. The principal amount of the
debenture is convertible into shares of our comstook at a rate of $3.00 per share. We also isS0@D0 warrants at $3.00 per share in
relation to this debenture. The debenture is sedoyeour ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCIll#iags, Inc., both are wholly owned
subsidiaries.

2. In July 2005, we sold 200,000 shares of our comstock in a private transaction to 13 persor&2a80 per share for a total consideration
of $400,000.

ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our audited consolidated financial statataeand the related notes to the financial
statements included in this Form 10-KSB.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemierthis Form 10-KSB to make applicable and takeaatiage of the safe harbor provision
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform ActX#95 for any forward-looking statements made bgrusn behalf of us. Forward-looking
statements include statements concerning planscigs, goals, strategies, future events or padoce and underlying assumptions and
other statements, which are other than stateméhistorical facts. Certain statements in this pextus are forward-looking statements.
Words such as "expects,” "believes," "anticipatésdy,” and "estimates" and similar expressionsraended to identify forward-looking
statements. Such statements are subject to riskararertainties that could cause actual resulisfier materially from those projected. Such
risks and uncertainties are set forth below. Oyeetations, beliefs and projections are expressgaod faith and we believe that they have a
reasonable basis, including without limitation, examination of historical operating trends, datatained in our records and other data
available from third parties. There can
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be no assurance that our expectations, beliefsopegtions will result, be achieved, or be accost@d. In addition to other factors and
matters discussed elsewhere in this prospectuspitbering are important factors that in our vieautd cause material adverse affects on our
financial condition and results of operations: tis&s and uncertainties related to our future djpamal and financial results, the risks and
uncertainties relating to our Internet operatia@wnpetitive factors, the timing of the openingotifer clubs, the availability of acceptable
financing to fund corporate expansion efforts, dependence on key personnel, the ability to manpgeations and the future operational
strength of management, and the laws governingpleeation of adult entertainment businesses. We hawbligation to update or revise
these forward-looking statements to reflect thauo@mnce of future events or circumstances.

RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higlgree of risk. You should carefully consider ttssidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any oétleats, contingencies, circumstances or conditi@ssribed in the risks below actually
occurs, our business, financial condition or resaftoperations could be seriously harmed. Thertgagrice of our Common Stock could, in
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Regulatogetfainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing
Nightclubs, Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Hitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to lpstdte and federal regulations. Our businesgiglated by local zoning, local and state
liquor licensing, local ordinances and state amifal time place and manner restrictions. The ahtiértainment provided by our nightclubs
has elements of speech and expression and, therefgoys some protection under the First Amendrieetite United States Constitution.
However, the protection is limited to the express&nd not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileraghtclubs are generally well established
in their respective markets, there can be no assartnat local, state and/or federal licensing @heér regulations will permit our nightclubs
to remain in operation or profitable in the future.

We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businesp&sion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffitie satisfy our working capital and capital exgi¢ure requirements, we will need to raise
additional funds through the public or private safl@ur equity or debt securities. The timing antbant of our capital requirements will
depend on a number of factors, including cash #ioa cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtlitional funds are raised through the
issuance of equity or convertible debt securities,percentage ownership of our then-existing $tudders will be reduced. We cannot assure
you that additional financing will be available tamms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in dilutic

to existing shareholders, and debt financing, #ikble, may include restrictive covenants. Anyuia by us to procure timely additional
financing will have material adverse consequencesu business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightcluidttainment Industry Which May Affect Our Abilitp Operate Profitably or Acquire
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these atitggs may have greater financial and managenssaturces than us. Additionally, the
industry is subject to unpredictable competitivantts and competition for general entertainmenadalThere can be no assurance that we
will be
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able to remain profitable in this competitive intiys
Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauram bar industry has been an extremely volatile stgu The industry tends to be extremely
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatwégonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainmenstry revenues increase, and when
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnrghistry revenues decline. Coupled with this eco@ansitivity are the trendy personal
preferences of the customers who frequent adulireah We continuously monitor trends in our custetastes and entertainment
preferences so that, if necessary, we can makejpggie changes which will allow us to remain ohéhe premiere adult cabarets. However,
any significant decline in general corporate cdodg or uncertainties regarding future economicpeets that affect consumer spending
could have a material adverse effect on our busiriesaddition, we have historically catered tdientele base from the upper end of the
market. Accordingly, further reductions in the amtsuof entertainment expenses allowed as dedudtionsincome under the Internal
Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, could adverf$ety sales to customers dependent upon corpoxaense accounts.

Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuesirhe sale of alcoholic beverages. In Texas, thieoaity to issue a permit to sell alcoholic
beverages is governed by the Texas Alcoholic Bee@ommission (the "TABC"), which has the authgriityits discretion, to issue the
appropriate permits. Rick's presently holds a MiBederage Permit and a Late Hours Permit (the "R€imThese Permits are subject to
annual renewal, provided we have complied withad#s and regulations governing the permits. Rehefa permit is subject to protest,
which may be made by a law enforcement agency @r fmgmber of the general public. In the event pfodest, the TABC may hold a hear
at which time the views of interested parties aq@essed. The TABC has the authority after suchimgaot to issue a renewal of the
protested alcoholic beverage permit. While we haereer been subject to a protest hearing againsetieval of our Permits, there can be no
assurance that such a protest could not be matie future, nor can there be any assurance th&ehaits would be granted in the event ¢

a protest was made. Other states may have sirilar Which may limit the availability of a permitsell alcoholic beverages or which may
provide for suspension or revocation of a permieth alcoholic beverages in certain circumstan€hs.temporary or permanent suspension
or revocations of either of the Permits or the iliigtto obtain permits in areas of expansion wobi’e a material adverse effect on the
revenues, financial condition and results of openatof the Company.

We Must Continue to Meet The Nasdaq Small Cap Matkatinued Listing Requirements or We Risk Datigti

Our securities are currently listed for tradingtba Nasdaq Small Cap Market. We must continuetisfgaNasdag's continued listing
requirements or risk delisting which would haveaanerse effect on our business. If our securitiesger de-listed from the Nasdag, it may
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mag kess liquid market. In such case, our sharehgldéility to trade or obtain quotations of
the market value of shares of our common stock evbalseverely limited because of lower trading r@s and transaction delays. These
factors could contribute to lower prices and larggneads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the Nasdaq continusting requirements.
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In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Compard/Our Management Will Be
Required to Devote Substantial Time to New Comjgkalmitiatives

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-OxlegfR€002 (the "Sarbanes-Oxley Act"), as
well as new rules subsequently implemented by #€,$ave imposed various new requirements on pabhigpanies, including requiring
changes in corporate governance practices. Ourgeamant and other personnel will need to devotéatantial amount of time to these new
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financiahgdiance costs and will make some
activities more time-consuming and costly. For egbanwe expect these new rules and regulationsateerit more difficult and more
expensive for us to obtain director and officebility insurance, and we may be required to inabrssantial costs to maintain the same or
similar coverage.

In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, amathgr things, that we maintain effective interoaihtrols for financial reporting and
disclosure controls and procedures. In partic@ammencing in fiscal 2007, we must perform systaoh grocess evaluation and testing of
our internal controls over financial reporting ttoe management and our independent registeredgabtounting firm to report on the
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting, as required by Section 404 of théb&ages-Oxley Act. Our testing, or the
subsequent testing by our independent registerblicpaccounting firm, may reveal deficiencies irr mternal controls over financial
reporting that are deemed to be material weakne@sgcompliance with Section 404 will require tha incur substantial accounting
expense and expend significant management efidiéscurrently do not have an internal audit groungl we will need to hire additional
accounting and financial staff with appropriate [pmbompany experience and technical accountingwedge. Moreover, if we are not able
to comply with the requirements of Section 404 timgely manner, or if we or our independent registiepublic accounting firm identifies
deficiencies in our internal controls over finaecgporting that are deemed to be material wealase$se market price of our stock could
decline, and we could be subject to sanctionswastigations by the SEC or other regulatory auttes;i which would require additional
financial and management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we considers adedar personal injury and property damage to tiihe business of the Company may
be subject. However, there can be no assuranceriveured liabilities in excess of the coveragevjated by insurance, which liabilities may
be imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusimilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common lavotles of liability in other states
where we operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Stiafite provides a person injured by an intoxicgeson the right to recover damages
from an establishment that wrongfully served aldimhoeverages to such person if it was apparetitéserver that the individual being sold,
served or provided with an alcoholic beverage wasausly intoxicated to the extent that he presgatelear danger to himself and others.
An employer is not liable for the actions of its@oyee who overserves if (i) the employer requiteemployees to attend a seller training
program approved by the TABC;

(i) the employee has actually attended such aitrgiprogram; and (iii) the employer has not diseot indirectly encouraged the employe:
violate the law. It is our policy to require théditservers of alcohol working at our clubs be deti as servers under a training program
approved by the TABC, which certification giveststary immunity to the sellers of alcohol from dageacaused to third parties by those \
have consumed alcoholic beverages at such estalgigipursuant to the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Cddere can be no assurance,
however, that uninsured liabilities may not arid@al could have a material adverse effect on thegzmy.

18



Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's" and "Riclab&et" are established under the common law hgsad our substantial and continuous
use of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinieast as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS OE$! and "RICK'S CABARET"
logos are registered through service mark registiatissued by the United States Patent and Tratde@féice ("PTO"). There can be no
assurance that these steps taken by the Compangtext its Service Marks will be adequate to detimappropriation of its protected
intellectual property rights. Litigation may be easary in the future to protect our rights frontimjement, which may be costly and time
consuming. The loss of the intellectual properghts owned or claimed by us could have a matethatisse affect on our business.

Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stdc

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspiéaul,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in ommeare series, to fix the number of shares
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigirtd preferences of the shares constituting angssevithout any further vote or action by the
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock &Bthard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock. For
example, such issuance could result in a classairities outstanding that would have preferendés mespect to voting rights and dividends
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cdufzbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
The Board's authority to issue Preferred Stockadidcourage potential takeover attempts and odellaly or prevent a change in control of
the Company through merger, tender offer, proxytestror otherwise by making such attempts morécdiffto achieve or more costly. There
are no issued and outstanding shares of Prefetoett;3here are no agreements or understandingbdassuance of Preferred Stock, and the
Board of Directors has no present intention toesBreferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Common Shas in the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any dividesr®ur common stock and we do not anticipate pagimgdividends in the foreseeable
future. We expect that future earnings, if any) bl used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress Our 8tk Price

The market price of our common stock could decdiaa result of sales of substantial amounts oEommon stock in the public market, ot
a result of the perception that these sales catddroln addition, these factors could make it ndiffcult for us to raise funds through future
offerings of common stock.

Our Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatén the Future
The trading price of our securities may fluctuagmiicantly. This price may be influenced by mdagtors, including:

- our performance and prospects;

- the depth and liquidity of the market for our weties;

- sales by selling shareholders of shares issueswable in connection with the Debenture andfmm@rtible Note;
- investor perception of us and the industry inchkhive operate;

- changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recordat®ns by analysts;
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- general financial and other market conditionsl an
- domestic economic conditions.

Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexme, extreme price and trading volume volatilithese broad market fluctuations may
adversely affect the market price of our securities

Our Management Controls a Significant PercentageuwfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Theerbsts May Conflict With Those
of Our Shareholders

As of December 23, 2005, our Directors and exeeutificers and their respective affiliates colleety and beneficially owned approximat
29% of our outstanding common stock, includingaadtrants exercisable within 60 days. This concéiotmaof voting control gives our
Directors and executive officers and their respecéiffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote,
including, without limitation, the election of Dutors, even if their interests may conflict wittosie of other shareholders. It could also have
the effect of delaying or preventing a change intic of or otherwise discouraging a potential aogpufrom attempting to obtain control of
us. This could have a material adverse effect emiarket price of our common stock or prevent tiaresholders from realizing a premium
over the then prevailing market prices for theargs of common stock.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large paretaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, ougdfdent and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Langan possesses a unique and comprehensive krgandédur industry. While Mr. Langan has no preg#ans to leave or retire in the near
future, his loss could have a negative effect anopeerating, marketing and financial performanoséfare unable to find an adequate
replacement with similar knowledge and experienithivour industry. We maintain key-man life insnca with respect to Mr. Langan.
Although Mr. Langan is under an employment agredrtesdescribed herein), there can be no assuthat®r. Langan will continue to be
employed by us. The loss of Mr. Langan could hamegative effect on our operating, marketing, andrfcing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available To Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporatiorcadrdingly, the holder or holders of a
majority of the outstanding shares of our commaolsimay elect all of our Directors. Managementgdgpercentage ownership of our
outstanding common stock helps enable them to aiaititeir positions as such and thus control oftuginess and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilitpé Have Rights To Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provids, @ermitted by governing Texas law, that our Divexiand officers shall not be personally
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongtamages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dineotoofficer, with certain exceptions. The
Articles further provide that we will indemnify ollirectors and officers against expenses and iiegsilthey incur to defend, settle, or satisfy
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bigeDirectors or officers unless, in such
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegéigence or willful misconduct.
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The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleaynhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors and
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdermanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Roecand officers for breach of their
duty of care, even though such an action, if sisfagsmight otherwise have benefited us and ourldgtolders. The Articles provide for the
indemnification of our officers and Directors, atheé advancement to them of expenses in connecithrnawy proceedings and claims, to the
fullest extent permitted by Texas law. The Artidleslude related provisions meant to facilitate ithdemnitee's receipt of such benefits. Tl
provisions cover, among other things: (i) spectfmaof the method of determining entitlement tdemnification and the selection of
independent counsel that will in some cases magie determination, (ii) specification of certain &rperiods by which certain payments or
determinations must be made and actions must lea takd (iii) the establishment of certain presuomstin favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisimgpder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteadors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have abssed that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such
indemnification is against public policy as expezb the Securities Act and is therefore unentainte

GENERAL
We operate in two businesses in the adult enteniin industry:

1. We own and operate upscale adult nightclubsrsgprimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghteiubs offer live adult entertainme
restaurant and bar operations. We own and opezatmnsadult nightclubs under the name "Rick's Cabarel "XTC" in Houston, Austin and
San Antonio, Texas, Charlotte, North Carolina, Miapolis, Minnesota, and New York, New York. We a@gm and operate a sports bar
called "Hummers" and an upscale venue that caspesoglly to urban professionals, businessmen eofégsional athletes called "Club
Onyx" in Houston. No sexual contact is permittedrat of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own two adult Internet membershigb/gites at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword. We acquire
xxxpassword.com site content from wholesalers.

b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtgBidm. This site provides our customers with theoofunity to purchase adult products
and services in an auction format. We earn revehyeharging fees for each transaction conducteth@mutomated site.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the sal&abr, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover casrghembership fees, independent
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amdthines, valet parking and other products andcsss. Our Internet revenues are
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intémebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comnissiearned on the sale of products and
services through Internet auction sites, and adhbgvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing througltéik2005, we greatly reduced our usage of
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promotional pricing for membership fees for our laguatertainment web sites. This reduced our regsritom these web sites.

We performed our annual evaluation on goodwill impant as of September 30, 2005. No impairmenelesgere identified as a result of
this evaluation.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondféettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Estimates and assumptions are based on histoxipatience, forecasted future events and variousr assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatessandthations may vary under different assumptiorsoaditions. We evaluate our estime
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadtmunting policies below are critical in the paytal of our financial condition and
results of operations.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedrm@dit card charges, which are generally convereazhash in two to five days after a
purchase is made. The Company's accounts receivtiideis comprised of employee advances and atiszellaneous receivables. The
long-term portion of notes receivable are inclugedther assets in the accompanying consolidatethba sheets. The Company recognizes
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managemeaitsgon that the notes receivable and
interest income will be collected. The Company ggipes allowances for doubtful accounts or notesnybased on management judgment,
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaike will not be collected. There is no allowafimedoubtful accounts or notes receivable
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @othpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dother of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2005 and 200sist of common stock. As of September 30, 20@52004, the Company's
marketable securities were classified as availédiesale, which are carried at fair value, with ealized gains and losses reported as other
comprehensive income within the stockholders' ggéttion of the accompanying consolidated balsheets. The cost of marketable equity
securities sold is determined on a specific idemdifon basis. The fair value of marketable eqaeégurities is based on quoted market prices.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depi@tia computed using the straight-line methodrdlie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havémeated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeargniure, equipment and leasehold
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improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendnd ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsb@tterments that extend the useful
lives are capitalized. Expenditures for normal rteriance and repairs are expensed as incurred.obhefcassets sold or abandoned and the
related accumulated depreciation are eliminateah fitee accounts and any gains or losses are chargeddited in the accompanying
statement of income of the respective period.

Gooduwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Goddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill imtahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFAS#e October 1, 2001. The Company's annual evialuatas performed as of
September 30, 2005. No impairment losses wereiftsghas a result of this evaluation. All of theri@pany's goodwill and intangible assets
relate to the nightclub segment. Definite livedhimgible assets are amortized on a strdigktbasis over their estimated lives. Fully anmesti
assets are written off against accumulated amdidiza

Revenue Recognition

Except for VIP Memberships, we recognize revenubeapoint-of-sale upon receipt of cash, checlgredit card charge. Membership
revenue is deferred and recognized over the estthmaembership usage period, which is estimatee ttband 24 months for annual and
lifetime memberships, respectively. We recognizerimet revenue from monthly subscriptions to iténenentertainment sites when
notification of a new subscription is received frtme third party hosting company or from the creditd company, usually two to three days
after the transaction has occurred. We recognitsgriat auction revenue when payment is received fte credit card as revenues are not
deemed estimable nor collection deemed probabde farithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses is primarily pased of costs related to public advertisementsgveaways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingesges are expensed as incurred and are incluagerating expenses.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognfaethe future tax consequences attributable tedihces between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabiliiad their respective tax bases. Deferred taxsaaset liabilities are measured using enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable incomeernytars in which those temporary differences apeeted to be recovered or settled. The
effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities change in tax rates is recognized in income irpiréod that includes the enactment date. In
addition, a valuation allowance is establishecetiuce any deferred tax asset for which it is ddatexththat it is more likely than not that so
portion of the deferred tax asset will not be i

Stock Options

At September 30, 2005, the Company has stock agptiatstanding. The Company accounts for its stations under the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principlesf8q@APB") Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Llesd to Employees, and related
Interpretations. The
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following table illustrates the effect on net ino®@nd earnings per share if the Company had apthléethir value recognition provisions of
SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compengato stock-based employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgbare data as if a fair value accounting methabdeen used to account for stock-based
compensation:

YE AR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
Net income (loss), as reported $ ( 215,148) $ 775,253
Less total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under the fair value
based method for all awards ( 549,165) (216,616)

Pro forma net income (loss) $ ( 764,313) $ 558,637

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted - as reported $ (0.05) $ 0.21

Basic and diluted - pro forma $ (0.19) $ 0.15

Common Stock

In January 2005, 20,000 stock options were exatdigeghe Company's employees and directors for6289,In March 2005, the Company
issued 150,000 shares of common stock to an uadkiavestor and received proceeds of $375,00000%0ares of restricted common stock
were issued at a value of $2.26 per share pursaantonsulting agreement, and 25,000 stock optiare exercised by the Company's
employees for $60,025. On June 10, 2005, the Coynigsaned 180,000 shares of common stock pursuahetpurchase of a club in
Charlotte, North Carolina. See Note N. In July 2008 sold 200,000 shares of our common stock invafe transaction to 13 persons at
$2.00 per share for a total consideration of $400,h August and September 2005, 25,000 stoclogtivere exercised by the Company's
employees and directors for $54,113.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansl&udiard ("FASB") issued interpretation 46R ("FINRA®, a revision to interpretation 46
("FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Bigs. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions dflB6 and exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the endheffirst interim period ending after March 15, 200#e adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R
did not have a material impact on the Company'salifated financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, Shased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123 080ting for Stock-Based
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Atitmufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesywimarily on share-based
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffite use of APB 25's intrinsic value
method of accounting for employee stock optionshesen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in the
future will be required to be expensed. The impacthe results of operations of the Company wildbpendent on the number of options
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginninddber 1, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2004

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2005, Webasolidated total revenues of $14,824,407, coetp consolidated total revenues of
$13,858,434 for the year ended September 30, Z0Gconsolidated total revenues for period endieygt&nber 30, 2004 did not include
revenues from discontinued operations in the amoL$i2,101,250. This was an increase of $965,9%%#%. The increase in total revenues
was primarily due to revenues from our new nighiabperations. Revenues from nightclub operationsdme-location same-period
decreased by 0.74% and for Internet businesse<9BY0
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Our loss before minority interest for the year eh8eptember 30, 2005 was $368,313 compared to mcbdi$il, 129,079 for the year ended
September 30, 2004. The decrease in net incomernivaarily due to the loss incurred in new club @tiems which amounts to $982,500.
net income from operations for nightclub operatiafes $1,723,491 for the year ended September 38, @mpared with $2,684,552 for the
year ended September 30, 2004. Our net income dpmarations for our Internet businesses was $114@&0be year ended September
2005 compared with $88,958 for the year ended &dpe 30, 2004. Our income for our nightclub operstifor the same-location-same-
period increased by 3.78%. Our net income for aterhet operations for the same-web-site-same-gh@nizyeased by 28.71%.

Our cost of goods sold for the year ended SepteBhe2005 was 12.58% of total revenues comparéd f&2 % of related revenues for the
year ended September 30, 2004. The increase wawidugily to the addition of Rick's clubs, whichve higher cost of goods sold. Our ¢
of goods sold for the nightclub operations for year ended September 30, 2005 was 12.88% of alratenues from club operations
compared to 11.86% for the year ended Septemb&(0Bd,. We continued our efforts to achieve redundtim cost of goods sold of the club
operations through improved inventory managemerm.a¥¢ continuing a program to improve margins fligmor and food sales and food
service efficiency. Our cost of sales from our tn&t operations for the year ended September 35 2@s 7.55% compared to 8.77% of
related revenues for the year ended Septembei08@, 2Ve have implemented measures to reduce expianear Internet operations.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endexie®eber 30, 2005 were $5,200,976 compared to $4883or the year ended September
30, 2004. The increase was primarily due to thesi@mse in payroll in opening new clubs. Our payi@ilour nightclub operations for same-
location-same-period decreased by 4.86%. Our pdprotame-site-same-period Internet operationsesesed by 1.67%. We believe that our
labor and management staff levels are at apprepesels.

Our other general and administrative expensestoyéar ended September 30, 2005 were $7,458,T2fiazed to $6,036,401 for the year
ended September 30, 2004. The increase was pryndam to the increase in taxes & permit, rent, lI&gprofessional, utilities, and
advertising & marketing expenses from opening nasations. Other selling, general and administragixeenses for same-location-same-
period for the nightclub operations decreased b§3%, while the same expenses for same-site sanwer Internet operations increased
by 2.01%.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenth@085 was $699,678 compared to $324,411 for ¢lae gnded September 30, 2004. The
increase was primarily due to the increase in dret#lation to the purchase and renovation of NewkYtlub. We have increased our long
term debt to $13,246,836 as of September 30, 260pared to debt of $3,693,560 as of September(®B}.2

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2005, we had a deficit in wagleapital of $2,047,725 compared to working cdjpt&$558,797 as of September 30,
2004. Because of the large volume of cash we hasttlagent cash controls have been implemente&eptember 30, 2005, our cash and
cash equivalents were $480,330 compared to $27aL88ptember 30, 2004. The increase was primduidyto the additional debt.

Our depreciation for the year ended September@5 %vas $573,706 compared to $479,791 for the greded September 30, 2004. Our
amortization for the year ended September 30, 26635$16,760 compared to no amortization for theodeended September 30, 2004.
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Net cash provided by operating activities in tharyended September 30, 2005 was $2,090,030 comma#d®6,308 for the year end
September 30, 2004. The increase in cash provigegérating activities was primarily due to theraggsse in accounts payable and accrued
expenses and decreases in prepaid expenses anduwtieat assets.

We used $6,307,508 of cash in investing activiieshe year ended September 30, 2005 compare866,306 for the year ended September
30, 2004. $4,801,197 of cash was provided in fimanactivities for the year ended in September2B05 compared to $153,749 used for the
year ended September 30, 20

Historically, our need for capital was a resultofstruction or acquisition of new clubs, renovatd older clubs, and investments in
technology. Historically, we have also utilized italpto repurchase its common stock as part ofshare repurchase program.

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorizéd board of directors to repurchase up to aritaaal $500,000 worth of our
common stock. No shares have been purchased unisi@idn.

On November 15 and 17, 2004, we borrowed $590,60054,042,000, respectively, from a financial itgtbn at an annual interest rate of
10% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentsiotjpal and interest are $5,694 and $10,056, reésmde. The note is secured by our
properties located at 2023 Sable Lane, San Antmmibat 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., Houston, Te@asNovember 30, 2004, we
borrowed $900,000 from an unrelated individuahat tate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thethiyp payment of principal and
interest is $9,290. The note is secured by ourgitigs located at 3501 Andtree, Austin and at 57di8dale, Houston, Texas. On December
30, 2004, we borrowed $1,270,000 from a finaneiatitution at an annual interest rate of 10% ov&d gear term. The monthly payment of
principal and interest is $12,256. The note is sty our property located at 3113 Bering Driveubkton, Texas. The money received from
this financing was used for the acquisition andwation of the New York club.

We entered into a promissory note on January 185 20r $5,125,000 bearing simple interest at #ie of 4.0% per annum with a balloon
payment at the end of five years, part of whicbasvertible to restricted shares of our commonkstirices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50
share.

On June 10, 2005, we entered into a promissoryfioot®325,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%aoeum for a seven year term. The note is
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafjeirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Carglitrec.

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $160,000 from a bb#ter and $100,000 from an unrelated individuaratinnual interest rate of 12% and
11% over 3 and 10 year terms, respectively.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured cabledebenture with one of our shareholders foriacgpal sum of $660,000, which

includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amoU$160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum. The
debenture matures on August 1, 2008. We also issa@d0 warrants at $3.00 per share in relatichitodebenture. The debenture is secured
by our ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Hiolgss, Inc., both of which are wholly owned subsiigia.

In July 2005, we received additional borrowinghe fmount of $100,000 from the same unrelated
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individual who advanced $100,000 in June 2005, vaitld whom we had two existing notes. The term is1fo years and the interest rate is
11% per annum. On August 15, 2005, the notes waended and the amounts from June and July ($200v@x@ included in one of the
notes, for a combined total of $1,341,520.34 pay#bthis individual.

In our opinion, working capital is not a true indior of our financial status. Typically, businessesur industry carry current liabilities in
excess of current assets because businessesiimdasiry receive substantially immediate paymensfdes, with nominal receivables, while
inventories and other current liabilities normaibrry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyfiemngemain flexible with payment tern
providing businesses in our industry with opportigsito adjust to short-term business down turns.céhsider the primary indicators of
financial status to be the long-term trend of rexegrowth, the mix of sales revenues, overall éash and profitability from operations and
the level of long-term debt.

We have not established lines of credit or finagather than the above mentioned notes payableanexisting debt. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

We believe that the adult entertainment industapdard of treating entertainers as independentaaints provides us with safe harbor
protection to preclude payroll tax assessment ffior years. We have prepared plans that we belieN@rotect our profitability in the event
that sexually oriented business industry is reguiineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.

The sexually oriented business industry is higlognpetitive with respect to price, service and lmratas well as the professionalism of the
entertainment. Although we believe that we are \pelitioned to compete successfully in the futthiere can be no assurance that we will be
able to maintain our high level of name recognitionl prestige within the marketplace.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seas@ubfs. Historically, we have experienced redues@mues from April through September
with the strongest operating results occurringriyi®ctober through March. Our experience indictitasthere are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.

GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entitp imarkets and demographic segments
with high growth potential. Upon careful marketaasch, we may open new clubs. As is the case hélatquisition of the New York club
and the North Carolina club, we may acquire exjstilubs in locations that are consistent with awwgh and income targets, and which
appear receptive to the upscale club formula we lileweloped. We may form joint ventures or partmpssto reduce start-up and operating
costs, with us contributing equity in the form afrdrand name and management expertise. We magelsiop new club concepts that are
consistent with our management and marketing skilt¥or acquire real estate in connection with dpérations, although some clubs ma
in leased premises.

We also expect to continue to grow our Internefipoenters. We plan to focus on high-margin In&gractivities that leverage our marketing
skills while requiring a low level of start-up caatd
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ongoing operating costs.

ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The information required by this Item 7 is includadhis report beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
There have been no changes in or disagreementgedthuntants on accounting and financial disclosure

ITEM 8A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Eric Langan, our Chief Executive Officer and CHi@fiancial Officer, has concluded that our disclestmntrols and procedures are
appropriate and effective. He has evaluated thestals and procedures as of September 30, 20@5eMere no significant changes in our
internal controls or in other factors that coulghsficantly affect these controls subsequent toddie of their evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant diefitcies and material weaknesses.

ITEM 8B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
PART Il

ITEM 9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AN D CONTROL PERSONS; COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION
16(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

Our Directors are elected annually and hold oftingl the next annual meeting of our stockholderaril their successors are elected and
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sexvihe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisreo family relationship between or among
any of our directors and executive officers. OuaBbof Directors consists of five persons. Thedielhg table sets forth our Directors and
executive officers:
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Name Age Position

Eric S. Langan 37 Director, Chairman, Ch ief Executive Officer, President and
Chief Financial Office r
Travis Reese 36 Director and V.P.-Dire ctor of Technology

Robert L. Watters 54 Director
Alan Bergstrom 60 Director
Steven Jenkins 48 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 an®@sident since March 1999. Mr. Langan is alsoGhief Financial Officer. He has
been involved in the adult entertainment busines®sl989. From January 1997 through the presertiak held the position of President of
XTC Cabaret, Inc. From November 1992 until Jand®97, Mr. Langan was the President of Bathing Beapinc. Since 1989, Mr. Langan
has exercised managerial control over more thaszardadult entertainment businesses. Through Huséties, Mr. Langan has acquired the
knowledge and skills necessary to successfullyaipexdult entertainment businesses.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been awackr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presidedt@ur Chief Executive Officer from
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters tnased and operated Rick's Cabaret, and adult amerént club in New Orleans,
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
in Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selechegotiated the property purchase and oversawlé¢sign and permitting for the club
that became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas\WMtters practiced law as a solicitor in LondBngland and is qualified to practice law
in New York. Mr. Watters worked in the internatibtex group of the accounting firm of Touche, R&s€o0. (now succeeded by Deloitte &
Touche) from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in tlatprpractice of law in Houston, Texas from 1983986, when he became involved in
our full-time management. Mr. Watters graduatednftbe London School of Economics and Political Bcée University of London, in 1973
with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in51@ith a Master of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall1School, York University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Judg. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddipaccountant with Pringle Jenkins &
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle Jenkidssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins has a
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sing@@71 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc@ffof Eagle Securities, which is

investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alsregistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, Finom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstrom
was a Vice President--Investments with Principabcial Securities, Inc. Mr. Bergstrom holds a B.B)egree in Finance, 1967, from the
University of Texas.

Travis Reese became our Director and V.P.-Direztdrechnology in 1999. From 1997 through 1999, Rieese had been a senior network
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santafew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsystems engineer with Deloitte &
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasident with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc.]@ernet service provider. From 1994
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continemtalines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was afpilith Hang On, Inc., an airline
company. Mr. Reese has an Associates Degree imAetical Science from Texas State Technical College
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There is no family relationship between or among @frour directors and executive officers.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We have no compensation committee. Decisions coimggexecutive officer compensation for fiscal 200&re made by the full Board of
Directors. Eric S. Langan and Travis Reese areoplyrdirectors who are also our officers.

We have an Audit Committee of independent direcidiese members are Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergsand Steven Jenkins. In May
2000, our Board of Directors adopted a ChartettferAudit Committee. The Charter establishes tdependence of our Audit Committee
and sets forth the scope of our Audit Committeatted. The purpose of our Audit Committee is todwget continuing oversight of our
financial affairs. Our Audit Committee conductsagoing review of our financial reports and othieahcial information prior to their being
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiorgtherwise provided to the public. Our Audit Coitie® also reviews our systems,
methods and procedures of internal controls iratieas of: financial reporting, audits, treasuryrapens, corporate finance, managerial,
financial and SEC accounting, compliance with lang ethical conduct. Our Audit Committee is objpsgtiand reviews and assesses the
of our independent registered public accounting fir

All of our Audit Committee members are independeiméctors. The Board of Directors elects the Merslrour Audit Committee annually.
The Members serve until their successors are dabterl and qualified. All Members of the audit Coitteg are free from any relationship
that could conflict with Member's independent judgn All Members are able to read and understanddmental financial statements,
including a balance sheet, income statement, astufét@av statement. At least one Member has past@ment experience in finance or
accounting, requisite professional certificatiormotounting, or other comparable experience ordrackd, including a current or past
position as a chief executive or financial offioerother senior officer with financial oversighspensibilities. Steven L. Jenkins serves as
Chairman of the Audit Committee, having been elétte the Members of our Audit Committee. Stevedenkins serves as the Audit
Committee's Financial Expert, having been elected bnanimous vote of the Members of our Audit Cati@a. The Audit Committee

Charter was previously filed as an exhibit to otoXy Statement filed with the Securities and Exgfea@ommission on June 3, 2005, and can
be found on our website at www.ricks.com.

We have a Nominating Committee composed of indepetndirectors Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergstrom &teven L. Jenkins. In July 2004,
the Board unanimously adopted a Charter with regratte process to be used for identifying andweatihg nominees for director. The
Charter establishes the independence of our Nomgh&ommittee and sets forth the scope of the Nating Committee's duties. The
Nominating Committee Charter can be found on oursite at www.ricks.corr

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of41&@Rjuires our directors and executive officersl persons who own beneficially more
than ten percent of our common stock, to file répof ownership and changes of ownership with theuBties and Exchange Commission.
Based solely on the reports we have received amwiritien representations from certain reportingspes, we
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believe that the directors, executive officers, grehter than ten percent beneficial owners hawgptied with all applicable filing

requirements.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for its Prindipacutive and Senior Financial Officers, which \wasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to our
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended Septembe803, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table reflects all forms of comperisatfor services to us for the fiscal years endegt&mber 30, 2005, 2004 and 2003 of
certain executive officers. No other executiveasfiof ours received compensation that exceeded,$00 during fiscal 2005. Mr. Langan is
Chairman of the Board, a Director, Chief Executdfficer, President and Chief Financial Officer. NReese is Director and V.P.-Director of

Technology.
SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation

Name and

Principal

Position Year Salary Bonus
%) (%)

Eric Langan

2005 $ 344,100 -0-
2004 $ 326,038 -0-
2003 $ 260,000 -0-
Mr. Langan is our Chairman, a Director, Chief Execu

Travis Reese
2005 $ 165,531 -0-
2004 $ 161,000 -0-
2003 $ 158,855 -0-

Mr. Reese is a Director and V.P.-Director of Techno

(1) We provide certain executive officers cer
the value of such benefits does not ex
10% of annual compensation, the amou

Long Term Compensation

Awards Payouts
Other Securities
Annual  Restricted Underlying All

Compen-  Stock Options/ LTIP Comp
sation (1) Awards  SARs Payouts sati
(%) (%) (#) (%) $

-0- -0- 5,000 -0 -0
-0- -0- 280,000 -0- -0
-0- -0- 5,000 -0- -0

tive Officer, President and Chief Financial Officer

-0- -0- 5,000 -0- -0

-0- -0- 55,000 -0- -0

-0- -0- 5,000 -0- -0
logy

tain personal benefits. Since
ceed the lesser of $50,000 or
nts are omitted.
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OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR (

Percent of Total
Options/SARs
Granted To
Employees In
Fiscal Year

Number of

Securities

Underlying

Options/SARs
Granted

# %

Name

Eric Langan 5,000 shares (1) 5.56 %

Travis Reese 5,000 shares (1) 5.56 %

(1) These options were granted to Messrs. Lan
capacity as Directors. There were 27,500 shares of
and Reese during the fiscal year ended September 30

Individual Grants)

Exercise of Expiration
Base Price Date
$/share

$ 2.80 7/20/2010
$ 2.80 7/20/2010

gan and Reese for serving in their
options exercised by Messrs. Langan
, 2005.

AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN
LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FY-END OPTION/SAR VALUES

Number Of Un exercised
Securities U nderlying Value of Unexercised
Options/SARs In-The-Money Options/
Shares At FY-End SARs At FY-End
Acquired On Value  Exercisable/ Exercisable/
Name Exercise Realized Unexercisabl e Unexercisable
# $ # $
Eric Langan. 5,000 (1) $ 6,363 290,000 /105,000 $ 178,350 / $55,150
Travis Reese 22,500 (1) $ 25,131 47,500 / 30,500 $ 29,975/ $14,650

(1) There were 27,500 shares of options exercis ed by these persons during the

fiscal year ended September 30, 2005

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attendoard meetings. In July 2005, we issued

10,000 options to each Director who is a membeauofaudit committee and 5,000 options to our obieectors. These options have a strike
price of $2.80 per share and expire in July 2010.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a ongear employment agreement with Mr. Eric S. Landgba {Langan Agreement"). The Langan Agreement egéhnrough Apri
1, 2006 and provides for an annual base salarg4® $00. The Langan Agreement also provides fdigyaation in all benefit plans
maintained by us for salaried employees. The Lagarement contains a confidentiality provision amd
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agreement by Mr. Langan not to compete with us uperexpiration of the Langan Agreement. We hauesgtablished long-term incentive
plans or defined benefit or actuarial plans. Uradprior employment agreement, Mr. Langan receiy@obos to purchase 75,000 shares at an
exercise price of $2.20 per share, which vestedddiately. We intend to enter into a new Employmfgiteement with Mr. Langan at the ¢

of the current term.

We also have a three-year employment agreementvvitiiravis Reese (the "Reese Agreement"). The Régseement extends through
February 1, 2007 and provides for an annual bdaeysaf $175,000. The Reese Agreement also provimigsarticipation in all benefit plans
maintained by us for salaried employees. The RAgseement contains a confidentiality provision amdagreement by Mr. Reese not to
compete with us upon the expiration of the Reeseeé&ment. We have not established long-term incemqtians or defined benefit or actuarial
plans. We intend to enter into a new Employmenteggrent with Mr. Reese at the end of the current.ter

ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 23, 2005, with respect to the benéfiiaership of shares of Common Stock
by (i) each person known to us who owns beneficimibre than 5% of the outstanding shares of Com8took, (ii) each of our directors, (i
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of @xecutive officers and directors as a group. Unb#ssrwise indicated, each stockholder has
sole voting and investment power with respect éoshares shown. As of December 23, 2005, there 4y822,148 share of common stock
outstanding.

NAME/ADDRESS NUMBER OF SHA RES TITLE OF CLASS PERCENT OF CLASS (8)

Eric S. Langan 1,133,010 (1) Common stock 26.2%
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Robert L. Watters 45,000 (2) Common stock 0.8%
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

Steven L. Jenkins 20,000 (3) Common stock 0.2%
16815 Royal Crest Drive

Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

Travis Reese 87,275 (4) Common stock 1.3%
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Alan Bergstrom 30,000 (5) Common stock 0.5%
904 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

All of our Directors and Officersas 1,255,285 (6) Common stock 29.0%
a Group of five persons

E. S. Langan. L.P. 578, 632 Common stock 13.4%
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

Ralph McElroy 748,46 7(7) Common stock 17.3%
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

William Friedrichs 400,26 0(8) Common stock 9.3%
16815 Royal Crest Dr., Suite 260
Houston, Texas 77058
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(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pdae264,378 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laangas shared voting and investment
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectlguph E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the gengainer of E. S. Langan, L.P. This
amount also includes options to purchase up to0P®0shares of common stock that are presently sedie.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 35,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(3) Includes options to purchase up to 15,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(4) Includes options to purchase up to 47,500 shareommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(5) Includes options to purchase up to 25,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(6) Includes options to purchase up to 412,500eshaf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(7) Includes 698,467 shares of common stock hetttly and 50,000 shares of common stock that wbalésuable upon the exercise of
warrants at an exercise price of $3.00 per shdrvis.Aumber specifically excludes 220,000 shareofmon stock that would be issuable
upon conversion of a convertible debenture helMbyMcElroy. The Debenture provides, absent shdddr@pproval, that the number of
shares of our common stock that may be issued loy asquired by the Holder upon conversion of tle@&nture shall not exceed 19.99% of
the total number of issued and outstanding shdresracommon stock.

(8) Includes 170,000 shares owned by WMF Investmént. Mr. Friedrichs is a control person of WMivéstments, Inc.
(9) These percentages exclude treasury shares atbulation of percentage of class.

We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtriesa change of control.

The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of RegulaeB is set forth in ITEM 5 herein.

ITEM 12. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thattausiness affairs will be conducted in all respdxt standards applicable to publicly held
corporations and that we will not enter into anufa transactions and/or loans between us andficers, directors and 5% shareholders
unless the terms are no less favorable than cauttbtained from independent, third parties and lélbpproved by a majority of our
independent and disinterested directors. In ow vl of the transactions described below meet standard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan vehaur Chief Executive Officer. The promissory nid@insecured, bears interest at 11%
and is amortized over a period of ten years. THe oontains a provision that in the event Mr. Lanigmaves the Company for any reason, the
note immediately becomes due and payable in fhk Balance of the note was $78,512 at Septemb&088,and is included in other assets
in our balance sheet.

On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertibleebture to Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% $iwdder of the Company, for the
principal sum of $660,000 bearing interest at tite of 12% per annum, with a maturity date of Aadyf008. Under the terms of the
Debenture, we are
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required to make monthly interest payments begmSieptember 1, 2005. We have the right to redeer®#benture in whole or in part at
any time during the term of the Debenture. At tleeton of the Holder, the Holder has the rightequire the Debenture to be repaid in thirty
(30) equal monthly installments commencing Febrzd@6. The Holder has the option to convert allmy portion of the principal amount of
the Debenture into shares of our common stock-atesof $3.00 per share, subject to adjustmentrucettain conditions. The Debenture
provides, absent shareholder approval, that thebeuwf shares of our common stock that may be ébyeaus or acquired by the Holder ug
conversion of the Debenture shall not exceed 19.8B#he total number of issued and outstandingeshaf our common stock. The
Debenture is secured by certain of our assets.tibddily, we issued Mr. McEIroy a Warrant to pursb&0,000 shares of our common stock
at an exercise price of $3.00 per share until 28ly2008. The shares of Common Stock underlyingtheipal amount of the Debenture and
the Warrants have piggyback registration rights.

ITEM 13. EXHIBITS

Exhibit 14 - Code of Ethics - Previously filed asexhibit to our Form 10-KSB for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2003 as filed with the
SEC on December 29, 2003.

Exhibit 21 - Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit 31.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Corpmmatequired by Rule 1324(1) or Rule 15
- 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934adapted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 31.2 - Certification of Chief Financial @fér of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Corpmatequired by Rule 13a-14(1) or Rule 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, agptatl pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Corpimatpursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 1Bl 63.

Exhibit 32.2 - Certification of Chief Financial @fér of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Corpmatpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes
Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of 18 U.S.C. 63.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The following table sets forth the aggregate fesd pr accrued for professional services rendeyed/bitley Penn for the audit of our annual
financial statements for fiscal year 2005 and figear 2004 and the aggregate fees paid or acdonedidit-related services and all other
services rendered by Whitley Penn for fiscal ye&dd=and fiscal year 2004.

2005 2004
Audit fees 137,529 77,613
Audit-related fees 8,106 -

Tax fees 12,550 -
All other fees -

Total 158,185 77,613



The category of "Audit fees" includes fees for annual audit, quarterly reviews and services reztlar connection with regulatory filings
with the SEC, such as the issuance of comfortrietiad consents.

The category of "Audit-related fees" includes engp benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.
The category of "Tax fees" includes consultatidatesl to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related services t@ix services were pagproved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat the provisio
of such services by Whitley Penn was compatiblé ¢vie maintenance of that firm's independenceerctinduct of its auditing functions. T
Audit Committee's outside auditor independencecggirovides for pre-approval of all services parfed by the outside auditors.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionflb¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant haseduhis report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized,aoudry 5, 2006.

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.

/sl Eric S. Langan

By: FEric S. Langan
Director, Chief Executive Oficer,
Presi dent and Chief Financial Oficer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aistréport has been signed below by the followiagspns in the capacities and on the dates
indicated:

Signature Title Date

/sl Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan Director, Chief Exec utive Officer, January 5, 2006
President and Chief Financial Officer

/sl Travis Reese

Travis Reese Director and January 5, 2006
V.P.-Director of Tec hnology

/sl Robert L. Watters

Robert L. Watters Director January 5, 2006

sl Alan Bergstrom

Alan Bergstrom Director January 5, 2006

/sl Steven Jenkins

Steven Jenkins Director January 5, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Rickabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.safx$idiaries, as of September 30, 2
and 2004, and the related consolidated statemépfsenations, changes in stockholders' equity,cash flows for the years then ended. TI
financial statements are the responsibility of@menpany's management. Our responsibility is to&sgan opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration terimal control over financial reporting as a bdsisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for tingpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express nolsopinion. An audit also includes examining, omst basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statemasgessing the accounting principles used andfisagnt estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall financial statehpeesentation. We believe that our audits progideasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries &&egitember 30, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidesedts of their operations and their cash
flows for the years then ended in conformity wittt@unting principles generally accepted in the &bhibtates of America.

/sl Wiitley Penn
Dal | as, Texas
Decenber 2, 2005

F-2
RICK'S CABARET INTER NATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALA NCE SHEETS
SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 480,330 $ 275,243
Accounts receivable:
Trade 310,692 72,909
Other 118,872 204,093
Marketable securities 28,919 122,350
Inventories 257,626 232,746
Net assets of discontinued operations - 27,674
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 87,991 976,577
Total current assets 1,284,430 1,911,592
Property and equipment, net 13,416,755 8,681,440
Other assets:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles 9,836,560 1,898,926
Definite lived intangibles, net 126,262 -
Other 365,011 268,919
Total other assets 10,327,833 2,167,845
Total assets $25,029,018 $12,760,877
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $1,034,508 $ 291,650
Accrued liabilities 852,865 568,835
Current portion of long-term debt 1,349,894 492,310
Line-of-credit 94,888 -
Total current liabilities 3,332,155 1,352,795
Other long-term liabilities 193,648 20,048
Long-term debt 11,896,942 3,201,250
Total liabilities 15,422,745 4,574,093

Commitments and contingencies - -



Minority interest

Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares
authorized, none outstanding

Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares
authorized, 5,220,678 and 4,608,678 shares issu

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in treas

Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.

RICK'S CABARET INTE

CONSOLIDATED STATE

Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues
Internet revenues
Other

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits
Charge card fees
Rent
Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Other

Income from continuing operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Other

Income (loss) from continuing operations before min

Minority interest

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

31,337 40,808

ed, respectively 52,207 46,087
13,004,567 11,273,149
15,572 109,002
(2,203,630) (1,988,482)
10,868,716 9,439,756
1,293,780 1,293,780

ury, at cost

$25,029,018 $12,760,877

F-3
RNATIONAL, INC.
MENTS OF INCOME

YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004

$ 5,431,049 $ 5,343,858

1,688,043 1,581,851
6,632,201 5,839,759
787,617 796,353
285,497 296,613
14,824,407 13,858,434
1,865,630 1,623,915
5,200,976 4,803,515
1,985,989 1,815,883
229,397 236,894
558,435 248,074
685,291 543,550
752,866 756,586
590,466 479,791
2,656,277 1,955,623
14,525,327 12,463,831
299,080 1,394,603
33,434 28,887
(699,678)  (324,411)

(1,149) 10,193

ority interest (368,313) 1,129,079
9,472 (4,777)
(358,841) 1,124,302
(148,294) (349,049)
291,987 -
143,693 (349,049)

$ (215,148) $ 775,253




Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Weighted average number of common shares outstandin

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@#tsients.

$ (009 $ 030
0.04 (0.09)

$ (005 $ 021
3,937,565 3,700,148




RIC K'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED ST ATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
COMMON S TOCK ACCUMULATED TREASURY STOCK
-------------------- ADDITIONAL OTHER
NUMBER PAID-IN COMPREHENSIVE ACCUMULATE D NUMBER
OF SHARES AMOUNT  CAPITAL INCOME DEFICIT OF SHARES AMOUNT
Balance at September 30, 2003 4,608,678 $ 46,087 $11,273,149 $ 120,000 $ (2,763,73 5) 908,530 $(1,293,780)
Net income - - - - 775,25 3 - -
Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain - - - (13,222) - - -
Change in available-for-sale
securities - - - 2,224 - - -

Comprehensive income - - - - - - R

Balance at September 30, 2004 4,608,678 46,087 11,273,149 109,002 (1,988,48 2) 908,530 (1,293,780)
Shares issued 612,000 6,120 1,624,762 - - - -
Stock warrants issued - - 106,656 - - - -
Net loss - - - - (215,14 8) - -
Change in available-for-sale
securities - - - (93,430) - - -

Comprehensive loss - R R

Balance at September 30, 2005 5,220,678 $ 52,207 $13,004,567 $ 15,572 $(2,203,63 0) 908,530 $(1,293,780)
TOTAL
STOCKHOLDER S'
EQUITY
Balance at September 30, 2003 $ 73817 21
Net income 775,2 53
Reclassification from unrealized to
realized gain (13,2 22)
Change in available-for-sale
securities 2,2 24
Comprehensive income 764,2 55
Balance at September 30, 2004 8,145,9 76
Shares issued 1,630,8 82
Stock warrants issued 106,6 56
Net loss (215,12 48)
Change in available-for-sale
securities (93,4 30)
Comprehensive loss (308,5 78)
Balance at September 30, 2005 $ 95749 36

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgstents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNA TIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (358,841) $ 1,124,302
Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from conti nuing
operations to net cash provided by operating ac tivities:
Depreciation 573,706 479,791
Amortization 16,760 -
Bad debts 75,995 -
Issuance of warrants 5,925 -
Minority interests (9,472) 4,777
Stock issued for professinal services 27,120 -
Gain on sales of marketable securities - (19,807)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:



Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisitions
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Purchases of property and equipment
Note receivable payments

Net cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of stock
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operati

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during the year for interest

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgsients.

(179,583)  (19,465)
(24,880)  (40,435)
975,432  (967,975)
987,868 175,120
2,090,030 736,308
(2,650,000)  (265,000)
550,000 -
- 21,459
(4,242,368)  (630,988)
34,860 7,323
(6,307,508)  (867,206)
928,762 -
4,762,000 300,000
(889,565)  (453,749)
4,801,197  (153,749)
ons (378,632) 56,666
s 205,087  (227,981)
275,243 503,224
$ 480,330 $ 275,243
$ 695962 $ 331,765




RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS
During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coyrfipzanced the purchase of a vehicle with a natgaple in the amount of $31,235.

During the year ended September 30, 2004, the Coynglimested a business, see Note M. As a restiteoflivestiture, the Company recei\
a note receivable in the amount of $235,000, remmbeddeferred gain of $163,739, and removed $7& 02t assets.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynmarchased a 9,000 square foot office buildingheil 2,739, payable with a $86,279
cash at closing and a $426,460 fifteen-year prammyssote, bearing interest rate at 7%.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynparchased a club in New York for $7,775,000,gtdy with $2,500,000 cash at
closing and a five-year secured convertible proamssote, bearing interest at 4%, in the amour$5125,000, and transaction costs of
$150,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, 12,08@slof restricted common stocks were issued apeosation pursuant to a consulting
agreement for a total value of $27,120, and weseeld as part of the transaction costs relatecetolttb in New York.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynmarchased a club in Charlotte for $1,0000,0@9aple with a $325,000 seven-year
secured promissory note, bearing interest at 7% 180,000 shares of stock valued at $675,000.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsisients.



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SEPTEMBER 30, 2005 AND 2004
A. NATURE OF BUSINESS

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. (the "Comparng'a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. The@any currently owns and operates
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment tagsant, and bar operations. These nightclubsoaagdd in Houston, Austin and San Antonio,
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota, Charldttath Carolina, and New York, New York. The Compalso owns and operates several
adult entertainment Internet websites. The Compasorporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A summary of the Company's significant accountintigies consistently applied in the preparationh&f accompanying consolidated
financial statements follows:

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateddial statements have been prepared using theshbasis of accounting in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted m thited States of America.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tw®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Sant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States of America requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfiettaertain reported amounts in the financialesteents and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from these estimated assumptions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investmanith a maturity of three months or less when pasgt to be cash equivalents. At
September 30, 2005 and 2004, the Company had ihoisuestments. The Company maintains deposits pilyria one financial institution,
which may at times exceed amounts covered by inserprovided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insur&arporation ("FDIC"). At
September 30, 2005, the uninsured portion of tdepesits approximated $27,000. There were no uredsueposits at September 30, 2004.
The Company has not incurred any losses relatéd tash on deposit with financial institutions.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
ACCOUNTS AND NOTES RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedrafdit card charges, which are generally convadezash in two to five days after a
purchase is made. The Company's accounts receivtitdeis comprised of employee advances and otismellaneous receivables. The
long-term portion of notes receivable are incluttedther assets in the accompanying consolidatithba sheets. The Company recognizes
interest income on notes receivable based on thestef the agreement and based upon managemeaitston that the notes receivable and
interest income will be collected. The Company ggipes allowances for doubtful accounts or notesnybased on management judgment,
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvaigks will not be collected. There is no allowaf@edoubtful accounts or notes receivable
as of September 30, 2005 and 2004.

MARKETABLE SECURITIES

Marketable securities at September 30, 2005 and 200sist of common stock. Statement of Financ@loddnting Standards ("SFAS") No.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt &uglity Securities, requires certain investmentsagerded at fair value or amortized ¢
The appropriate classification of the investmentsarketable equity is determined at the time a€pase and re-evaluated at each balance
sheet date. As of September 30, 2005 and 200&£dhgany's marketable securities were classifieal/aBable-for-sale, which are carried at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses raqubats other comprehensive income within the stddiing’ equity section of the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Thetastrketable equity securities sold is determioed specific identification basis. The
fair value of marketable equity securities is basedjuoted market prices. There has been no rdajiaims related to marketable securities
the year ended September 30, 2005. Marketableiesureld at September 30, 2005 and 2004 havstebesis of approximately $13,000.

INVENTORIES

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @ochpany merchandise. Inventories are carried dbther of cost, average cost, which
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out ("FIFO") basis, or market.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Depietia computed using the straight-line methodrdkie estimated useful lives of the assets
for financial reporting purposes. Buildings havémeated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeargniure, equipment and leasehold
improvements have estimated useful lives betwaendnd ten years. Expenditures for major renewadshetterments that extend the useful
lives are capitalized. Expenditures for normal rtexiance and repairs are expensed as incurred.obhefcassets sold or abandoned and the
related accumulated depreciation are eliminateoh fitte accounts and any gains or losses are chargeddited in the accompanying
statement of operations of the respective period.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, Goddwd Other Intangibles Assets, which addresseadheunting for goodwill and other
intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill iatahgible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an annual
basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFAS #¥e October 1, 2001. The Company's annual evialuatas performed as of
September 30, 2005. No impairment losses wereifahas a result of this evaluation. All of thei@pany's goodwill and intangible assets
relate to the nightclub segment. Definite livedhimgible assets are amortized on a strdigktbasis over their estimated lives. Fully anmesti
assets are written off against accumulated amdidiza

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and seraideg point-of-sale upon receipt of
cash, check, or credit card charge. This inclu@ély dnd annual VIP memberships.

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 101, Revenuec&gnition in Financial Statements, membership raeeshould be deferred and
recognized over the estimated membership usagedodfianagement estimates that the weighted aversefel lives for memberships are 12
and 24 months for annual and lifetime membershgspectively. The Company does not track memberstage by type of membership,
however it believes these lives are appropriatecandervative, based on management's knowledge dfént base and membership usage at
the clubs. The Company began deferring such revientlre quarter ended March 31, 2004, and this amiguecorded in accrued liabilities.

If the Company had deferred membership revenugesajnized it based on the lives above prior taildgnl, 2004, the impact on revenue
and net income recognized would have been incredsgsproximately $3,600 and $47,000 for the yeaded September 30, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. This would have also resulted inramease in the deferred revenue balance of appabeiyn$0 and $12,000 as of Septembe
2005 and 2004, respectively. Management does fievbehe impact of this difference in accountingatment is material to the Company's
annual and quarterly financial statements.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mgmsthibscriptions to its online entertainment sitéemnotification of a new subscription
is received from the third party hosting companyrom the credit card company, usually two to thdegs after the transaction has occurred.
The Company recognizes Internet auction revenuenywhgment is received from the credit card as reesrare not deemed estimable nor
collection deemed probable prior to that point.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED
ADVERTISING AND MARKETING

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilpeosed of costs related to public advertisementsgiveaways, which are used for
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketingegiges are expensed as incurred and are incluageiating expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

INCOME TAXES

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditialmethod in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accting for Income Taxes. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are recognized for theré tax consequences attributable to differebetseen the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and tresipective tax bases. Deferred tax assets dbitities are measured using enacted tax rates
expected to apply to taxable income in the yearghith those temporary differences are expectduttrecovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a changexirates is recognized in income in the period ithdudes the enactment date. In addition, a
valuation allowance is established to reduce afgrdm tax asset for which it is determined thé inore likely than not that some portion of
the deferred tax asset will not be realized.

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

The Company reports comprehensive income in acnoed@ith the provisions of SFAS No. 130, Reportt@mprehensive Income.
Comprehensive income consists of net income antsdlisses) on available-for-sale marketable seesiiand is presented in the
consolidated statements of changes in stockholdgusty.

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

The Company computes earnings per share in acamedeith SFAS No. 128, Earnings Per Share. SFAS1®8.provides for the calculation

of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basidmgsrper share includes no dilution and is compbtedividing income available to common
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted egsper share reflect the potential
dilution of securities that could share in the #ags of the Company. The impact of dilutive stogitions does not change earnings per share,
therefore basic and diluted earnings per shartharsame.

Stock options of approximately 733,000 for the yeraded September 30, 2004, have been excludedefaonings per share due to the stock
options being anti-dilutive. All options were exdkd for the year ended September 30, 2005 duetGdmpany’s net loss.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

In accordance with the reporting requirements cASMNo. 107, Disclosures About Fair Value of Finahtnstruments, the Company
calculates the fair value of its assets and liaddiwhich
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED

qualify as financial instruments under this statetraand includes this additional information in ti@es to consolidated financial statements
when the fair value is different than the carryuadue of these financial instruments. The estimé&dvalue of accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities approximate thairying amounts due to the relatively short mayuitthese instruments. The carrying value
of short and long-term debt also approximatesvaline since these instruments bear market rategesest. None of these instruments are
held for trading purposes.

STOCK OPTIONS

At September 30, 2005, the Company has stock aptiatstanding, which are described more fully ineN@. The Company accounts for its
stock options under the recognition and measurepramtiples of Accounting Principles Board ("APBDpinion No. 25, Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees, and related InterpogtstiThe following table illustrates the effectrmt income and earnings per share if the
Company had applied the fair value recognition jgions of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Bagmimpensation, to stock-based
employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgbare data as if a fair value accounting methadde®n used to account for stock-based
compensation:

Y EAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,
2005 2004

Net income (loss), as reported $ (215,148) $ 775,253
Less total stock-based employee compensation

expense determined under the fair value

based method for all awards (549,165) (216,616)

Pro forma net income (loss) $ (764,313) $ 558,637

Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic and diluted - as reported $ (0.05) $ 0.21

Basic and diluted - pro forma $ (0.19) $ 0.15

IMPACT OF RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansi&uoiard ("FASB") issued interpretation 46R ("FINRI, a revision to interpretation 46
("FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Bigs. FIN 46R clarifies some of the provisions 8flB6 and exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the endheffirst interim period ending after March 15, 200#e adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R
did not have a material impact on the Company'salifated financial statements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
B. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - CONNUED

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, SBRased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123 0fiating for Stock-Based
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Atitmufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesywimarily on share-based
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffite use of APB 25's intrinsic value
method of accounting for employee stock optionsheen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in the
future will be required to be expensed. The impacthe results of operations of the Company wildbpendent on the number of options
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginninddder 1, 2006.

C. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004
Buildings and land $9,531,112 $ 8,967 ,481
Leasehold improvements 4,099,666 565 ,385
Furniture 939,550 547 ,574
Equipment 2,079,895 1,260 , 763
Total property and equipment 16,650,223 11,341 ,203
Less accumulated depreciation 3,233,468 2,659 ,763
Property and equipment, net $13,416,755 $ 8,681 ,440

For the years ended September 30, 2005 and 2G)€aimpany capitalized approximately $128,000 anaepectively, of interest to
property and equipment in leasehold improvements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
D. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thiotahg:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004

Indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill $1,898,926 $1,898,926

Licenses 7,937,634

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives:

Discounted lease 18 years 43,022

Non-compete agreement 5 years 100,000 -

Less accumulated amortization (16,760)
Total goodwill and intangible assets $9,962,822 $1,898,926

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization atedeiper 30, 2005 for each of the years in the
five-year period ending September 30, 2010 andedftar is 2006 - $22,347, 2007 - $22,347, 2008327, 2009 - $22,347, 2010 - 7,347,
and thereafter - $29,527.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consisted of the following:

SEPTEMBER 30,

2005 2004

Note payable at prime (as determined by

the Wall Street Journal) plus 1%,

matures December 2004 *$ - $ 296,163
Notes payable at 9%, mature February 2008  * 2,035,303 2,120,680
Notes payable at 12%, mature March 2026 * 140,802 142,263
Note payable at 9%, matures March 2006 * 289,308 293,224
Note payable with imputed interest at 7%,

matures January 2006, unsecured 214,649 415,255
Notes payable at 11%, mature August 2015 * 1,335,338 367,072
Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014

and January 2015 * 2,868,224 -
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012,

collateralized by assets of RCI

Entertainment North Carolina, Inc. 325,000 -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2004  * - 27,667
Convertible note payable at 12%, matures

August 2008 559,270 -
Convertible note payable at 4%, matures

May 2010, collateralized by assets of RCI

Entertainment New York, Inc. 5,042,362 -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2019  * 414,057 -
Note payable at 8.99%, matures

October 2007, collateralized by a vehicle 22,523 31,236
Total debt 13,246,836 3,693,560

Less current portion

Total long-term debt $

1,349,894 492,310

11,896,942 $3,201,250

* Collateralized by real estate

The Company had an unsecured note payable at 189 emount of $188,051 at September 30, 2004 ,hwhias part of discontinued
operations.

In June, July and November 2004, the Company badd®100,000, $100,000, and $900,000, respectifrelyy an unrelated individual at the
rate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thesmiamgs were an addition to a previous note. Dufisgal year 2005, the monthly paym
of principal and interest of the new borrowing 16%34, and $3,445 for the old note. The notesecared by our properties located at 3501
Andtree, Austin and at 5718 Fairdale,
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
Houston, Texas. The money received from this nearfting was used for the acquisition and renovaifahe New York club.

On November 15, November 17, and December 30, 2884Zompany borrowed $590,000, $1,042,000, ar2i’f$1000, respectively, from a
financial institution at an annual interest ratel 6% over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentgiatipal and interest are $5,694, $10,056,
and $12,256, respectively. The notes are securedibgroperties located at 2023 Sable Lane, Saorat410

N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., and 3113 Bering Drive, $fon, Texas. The money received from this finaneag used for the acquisition a
renovation of the New York club.

As a part of the purchase the North Carolina diab,Company issued 180,000 shares of the Compamyison stock valued at $3.75 per
share and entered into a seven year promissoryimtte amount of $325,000 bearing interest atrale of 7% per annum. The note is
payable with an initial payment due November 1,%Qf interest only for the period of time from ttate of Closing until October 31, 2005,
plus a principal reduction payment in the amourD09. Thereafter, RCI Entertainment North Caalinc., the Company's subsidiary,
will make eighty-three (83) successive equal mgnplalyments commencing December 1, 2005, of priheipd interest in the amount of
$4,905 until paid in full. The note is secured bg aissets of RCI Entertainment North Carolina, fursuant to the terms of the note, on or
after November 1, 2005, the holder shall have igifg,rbut not the obligation to have the Companschase from the holder 4,285 shares per
month, calculated at a price per share equal t65%3ntil the holder has received a total of $1,000,from the sale of the shares less the
amount of the note. At the Company's election duany given month, the Company may either buy tbathly shares or, if the Company
elects not to buy the monthly shares from the holthen the holder shall sell the monthly sharethénopen market. Any deficiency between
the amount which the holder receives from the shthe monthly shares and the value of the shdrallse paid by the Company within thi
(3) days of the date of sale of the monthly shdtesg that particular month. The Company's obi@ato purchase the monthly shares from
the holder shall terminate and cease at such titleesholder has received a total of $1,000,00® filee sale of the shares, less the amount of
the note.

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdatorvertible debenture with one of its sharehalder a principal sum of $660,000. The
debenture is convertible into 220,000 shares oimpany's common stock at a conversion price @fger share at the option of the
holder. The term is for three years and interdstigaat 12% per annum. The debenture matures gnstd, 2008. The Company also issued
50,000 detachable warrants at $3.00 per shardaitiore to this debenture. The value of the discmmhotes payable was estimated to be
$106,656 at the date of grant using a Black-Schaéien-pricing model. For the year ending Septendfe 2005, the Company recorded
$5,925 interest expense. The debenture is secyr€dimpany's ownership in Citation Land, LLC and R®Idings, Inc., both are wholly
owned subsidiaries.

As a part of the purchase the New York club, thenfany obtained a $5.125 million in a promissoryerte¢aring simple interest at the rate of
4.0% per annum with a balloon payment at end & yigars. Two million dollars of the principal ambohthe Promissory Note is

F-16



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
E. LONG-TERM DEBT - CONTINUED
convertible into shares of restricted common seitgbrices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share.

In December 2004, as a part of the purchase diG0%quare-foot office building, the Company oledia fifteen year promissory note in the
amount of $426,460 with interest at 7%.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of fiblllowing:

2006 $ 1,349,894
2007 835,062
2008 3,312,223
2009 909,149
2010 2,894,275
Thereafter 3,946,233

F. INCOME TAXES

Income tax expense for the years presented dfffens the "expected" federal income tax expense edeatpby applying the U.S. federal
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomegdxr the years ended September 30, as a reshi &llowing:

2005 2004
Computed expected tax expense (benefit) $(73,151) $ 263,586
State income taxes (6,454) 23,257
Deferred tax asset valuation
Allowance 79,605 (286,843)
Total income tax expense $ - $

2005 2004
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Goodwill $ (138, 150) $ 284,018
Property and equipment (254, 788) (161,881)
Net operating losses 1,165, 143 654,405
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (5, 762) (40,331)
Other 72, 975 16,646
Valuation allowance (839, 418) (752,857)
$ $



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

F. INCOME TAXES - CONTINUED

The Company has established a valuation allowambdly reserve the deferred tax assets at SepteB8Q)e2005 and 2004 due to the

uncertainty of the timing and amounts of futureatale income. At September 30, 2005, the Companynkadperating loss carryforwards of
approximately $3,149,000, which expire in 2017 tiylo 2020.

G. STOCK OPTIONS

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftlan (the "1995 Plan") for employees and directorgiugust 1999 the Company
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the "1999 Rl@dllectively, "the Plans"). The options grantetler the Plans may be either incentive
stock options, or non-qualified options. The Plaresadministered by the Board of Directors or lopmpensation committee of the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugigeer to select individuals to receive grantsgtablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grarsiedll be granted at an exercise price equal leaat 85% of the fair market value of the
common stock covered by the option on the grare datl to make all determinations necessary or alolésinder the Plans.

Following is a summary of options for the yearseh@eptember 30:

WEIG HTED WEIGHTED

AVE RAGE AVERAGE

EXER CISE EXERCISE

2005 PR ICE 2004 PRICE

Outstanding at beginning of year 908,000 $ 2.39 498,000 $ 2.35
Granted 90,000 2.80 575,000 2.46
Expired (50,000) 2.49 (165,000) 2.29
Exercised (70,000) 221 - -
Outstanding at end of year 878,000 2.47 908,000 2.42
Exercisable at end of year 583,000 $ 2.40 408,000 $ 2.32

Weighted-average remaining
contractual life 2.84 years 3.12 years

As of September 30, 2005, the range of exercigegifior outstanding options was $1.40 -$2.80.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 ahakee interpretations in accounting for its empgtock options because the alterne
fair value accounting provided for under SFAS N23,JAccounting for Stock Based Compensation, reguine use of option valuation
models that were not developed for use in valumgleyee stock options. See footnote B for relatiedldsures.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
G. STOCK OPTIONS - CONTINUED

Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is reconthen the exercise price of the Company's emplst@ck option equals the fair
value of the underlying stock on the date of gr&umpensation equal to the intrinsic value of erpgdostock options is recorded when the
exercise price of the stock option is less tharfdirevalue of the underlying stock on the datent. Any resulting compensation is
amortized to expense over the remaining vestingpgegiof the options on a straight-line basis. heryears ended September 30, 2005 and
2004, no amounts were recorded to compensatiomsgpelated to stock options issued to employees.

Information regarding pro forma net income is regdiby SFAS 123, and has been determined as @ohgpany had accounted for its
employee stock options under the fair value methfd8IFAS No. 123. The fair value of these options wstimated at the date of grant usir
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogsweighted average assumptions:

2005 2004

Volatility 137% 137%
Expected lives 3years 3.3 years
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rates 4.31% 3.45%

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was dgyetiofor use in estimating the fair value of tradptions, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofiygsubjective assumptions including the
expected stock price volatility. Because changehlérsubjective input assumptions can materiafigcathe fair value estimate, in
management's opinion, the existing models do ncessarily provide a reliable single measure ofélrevalue of its employee stock options.

H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
LEASES

The Company leases certain equipment and faciliteer operating leases, of which rent expenseappsoximately $558,000 and $536,000
for the years ended September 30, 2005 and 20§gectvely.

Rent expense for the Company's operating leasashwbnerally have escalating rentals over the trthe lease, is recorded using the
straight line method over the initial lease termevdiby an equal amount of rent expense is attribiotedch period during the term of the
lease, regardless of when actual payments are rGaterally, this results in rent expense in exoéssish payments during the early years of
a lease and rent expense less than cash payméhnéslater years. The difference between rent esescognized and actual rental payments
is recorded as other long-term liability in the solidated balance sheets.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $epéz 30, 2005 are as follow:

2006 $ 964,307
2007 984,472
2008 929,076
2009 788,114
2010 552,882
Thereafter 8,517,755

LEGAL MATTERS
Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance Of Houston, &as

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofuddton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguthg location of and the conduct
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the "Ordindncehe Ordinance established new minimum distaticasSexually Oriented Businesses
may be located from schools, churches, playgroandsother sexually oriented businesses. There mepgovisions in the Ordinance
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9B¥1the Company was informed that
one of the Company's Houston locations at 3113ngeDirive failed to meet the requirements of theiadce and accordingly the renewal of
the Company's Business License at that locationdeaged.

The Ordinance provided that a business which waigede renewal of its operating permit due to clearig distance requirements under the
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the "Amortization Periodf'fhe owner were unable to recoup, by
the effective date of the Ordinance, its investnienie business that was incurred through the dfatiee passage and approval of the
Ordinance.

The Company filed a request with the City of Hoastequesting an extension of time during which apens at the Company's north
Houston facility could continue under the AmortipatPeriod provisions of the Ordinance since thenfany was unable to recoup its
investment prior to the effective date of the Oadlice. An administrative hearing was held by thg GitHouston to determine the appropri
Amortization Period to be granted to the Compartyth& Hearing, the Company was granted an amddizgeriod that has since been
reached. The Company has the right to appeal acigide of the Hearing official to the district coum the State of Texas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodility of the entire Ordinance was
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the U.S.

F-20



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED

District Court for the Southern District of Texdguston Division, struck down certain provisiongteé Ordinance, including the provision
mandating a 1,500 foot distance between a clulsahdols, churches and other sexually oriented basjrleaving intact the provision of the
750 foot distance as it existed prior to the Ordo®a

The City of Houston has appealed the District Csuirtings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals. the event that the City of Houston is
successful in the appeal, the Company could befozampliance and such an outcome could have aeragimpact on the Company's futi
The permits for the Company's north Houston loca¢ind Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texalnance, such as provisions governing the levégbfing in a sexually oriented business,
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of
dancers and club managers that were upheld byotlm¢ which may be detrimental to the Company'simgs. The Company, in concert with
other sexually oriented businesses, is appealiegethspects of the Ordinance.

In November, 2003, a three judge panel from th#hFfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Court's rulir
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjom distances and licensing of dancers and. Staff Court of Appeals, however, did not
follow the Trial Court's ruling regarding the dista from which a club may be located from a chumckchool. The Court of Appeals held
that a distance measurement of 1,500 feet woulthbeld upon a showing by the City of Houston ttetiaims that there were alternative
sites available for relocating the clubs could blessantiated. The case was remanded for trial ®@iis8ue of the alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could extditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whiatre not decided at the trial level during
the initial phase of the case. It is anticipateat these technical issues will be joined in thall@ourt. The City has not sought to modify any
of the terms of the injunction against enforcenwdrany location provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Coulitigslin 1998 has been exhausted. The Trial Castdntered a new scheduling order which
places trial on the remaining issues for June 200@ler the holding of the Fifth Circuit Court of pgals, the City of Houston has the burden
of proof to show that, under the distance measungsr@ntained in the 1997 ordinance, there are 280 alternate sites available for
relocation. If the City of Houston can meet thigiah burden, then the Trial Court will consideetremaining location issues which were not
decided during the initial summary phase of theechsthe event the City of Houston can meet itslbn and the Trial Court moves forward
with the case, an appeal is anticipated. A rulinghe remaining issues in favor of the City of Homscould have an adverse impact on the
Rick's locations in Houston, Texas.
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H. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES - CONTINUED
OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On May 2, 2003, a lawsuit was filed in the Unitedt8s District Court for the Western District ofXBs, San Antonio division, on behalf of
XTC Cabaret, and others, as a result of the Citgaf Antonio having adopted a new ordinance, whinigng other things, banned nude
dancing. This suit asked the Court to declare tdnance unconstitutional and enjoin the City frenforcing it. Prior to a resolution of this
litigation, XTC Cabaret withdrew as a party to thesuit. Although a settlement was reached withrémeaining parties in June 2005, it did
not include nude dancing. XTC has elected to addfes constitutionality of the ordinance by appegakny conviction obtained by the City
through the state courts.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 80tkditial District Court of Harris County, Texas, lety Cause No. 2004-18510, Charity Renee
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, etlaik is a wrongful death and personal injury acagainst two individuals based on
negligence theories and five entertainment estahits including Rick's based on alleged "dram shimgations arising from a two-car
collision. Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Guany under a theory of products liability. Plaifgtiinclude the children of the decedents, a
minor passenger and the mothers of the deceddaistif’s are seeking unspecified damages inclugihgsical pain and suffering, mental
anguish, pecuniary loss, past and future loss wfpamionship and consortium, loss of mental andlédteial function, past and future
physical impairment, reduction in earning capaditgreased education costs and expenses includivegdl and medical costs.

Management believes that the Company is not liftslany of the damages and that the Company isredvey the safe harbor provisions of
the Dram Shop Act, which render certain compliatalelishments not liable for the acts of their pasr The Company is not aware of any
insurance coverage for this claim. The Companyegetiiat the Company has any liability for the aeetdand is vigorously defending the
matter.

Discovery is ongoing and the Company has filed a@idviofor Summary Judgment on behalf of Rick's whighurrently pending.

For all the above legal matters, no contingentrieseas liabilities have been recorded in the apamying balance sheets as such potential
losses are not deemed probable or estimable.

I. LINE-OF-CREDIT

The Company has available a $100,000 unsecuredfingedit with a bank. Interest is payable monthfythe outstanding balance at a
floating rate of prime plus 1.5% (8.25% at Septendfy 2005). This arrangement is subject to renéwaline 2006. The amount outstanding
under this agreement at September 30, 2005 wa8&®4with the remainder available for future borirogv
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J. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following information is presented in accordamdth SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segmensdnterprise and Related
Information. The Company is engaged in adult nighbs and adult entertainment websites ("Interndtie Company has identified such
segments based on management responsibility anththee of the Company's products, services and.cbsere are no major distinctions in
geographical areas served as all operations dhe ibnited States. The Company measures segmditt(foss) as income

(loss) from operations. Total assets are thosdsassatrolled by each reportable segment.

The following table sets forth certain informatianout each segment's financial information forybar ended September 30:

2005 2004
Business segment sales:
Night clubs $1 4,708,159 $15,163,331
Internet 788,513 796,353
Discontinued operations (672,265) (2,101,250)
$1 4,824,407 $13,858,434
Business segment operating income:
Night clubs $ 2,283,535 $ 2,542,482
Internet 114,500 88,958
General corporate ( 2,098,955) (1,565,871)
Discontinued operations - 329,034
$ 299,080 $ 1,394,603
Business segment capital expenditures:
Night clubs $ 4,763,060 $ 659,073
Internet 58,153 5,580
General corporate 516,500 35,546
Discontinued operations (28,693)  (55,634)
$ 5,309,020 $ 644,565
Business segment depreciation and amortization:
Night clubs $ 455,690 $ 385,425
Internet 34,231 43,308
General corporate 122,277 115,404
Discontinued operations (21,732)  (64,346)
$ 590,466 $ 479,791
Business segment assets:
Night clubs $1 9,037,102 $ 6,640,888
Internet 99,148 108,595
General corporate 5,892,768 6,450,276
Discontinued operations - (438,882)
$2 5,029,018 $12,760,877



RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
K. COMMON STOCK

In January 2005, 20,000 stock options were exatdigethe Company's employees and directors for6Z30,In March 2005, the Company
issued 150,000 shares of common stock to an uadkiavestor and received proceeds of $375,00000%0ares of restricted common stock
were issued at a value of $2.26 per share pursoantonsulting agreement, and 25,000 stock optigre exercised by the Company's
employees for $60,025. On June 10, 2005, the Coyniganed 180,000 shares of common stock pursuahetpurchase of a club in
Charlotte, North Carolina. See Note N. In July 2008 sold 200,000 shares of our common stock invafe transaction to 13 persons at
$2.00 per share for a total consideration of $400,h August and September 2005, 25,000 stoclogtivere exercised by the Company's
employees and directors for $54,113.

L. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriegaa, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tl¢ens unsecured, bears interest at
11% and is amortized over a period of ten years.{dte contains a provision that in the event Mingan leaves the Company for any
reason, the note immediately becomes due and gayahlll. The balance of the note was approxinya$219,000 and $86,000 at September
30, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and is includeatfier assets in the accompanying consolidatechbalsheets.

M. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT PLAN

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the "Plamtjch covers all of the Company's corporate eygxs. The Plan allows the corpot
employees to contribute up to the maximum amouatvald by law, with the Company making a matchingtdbution of 3% of the
employee's salary. Expenses related to matchingilotions to the Plan approximated $28,000 and®XBfor the years ended September
30, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

N. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On March 3, 2004, the Company acquired the assétbasiness of a 7,000 square foot gentlemen'sicidiorth Houston and it became the
Company's fifth XTC Cabaret. As a part of the teanti®n, the Company entered into a new five-yeasdewith an option for five additional
years. The results of operations of this new vearadncluded in the accompanying consolidated firsrstatements from the date
acquisition. The $265,000 all-cash purchase trammsagenerated goodwill of $20,000. Proforma resaftoperations have not been provided,
as the amounts were not deemed material to theolidated financial statements. The transactiorofed the Company's growth strategy.

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock Surchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtiypamereby the Company sold all
its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, flmc$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivatsderiy interest at a rate of 6%
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N. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS- CONTINUED

over a five year period. As a part of the transaGtTrumps, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Compamd Tantric, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of RCI Ventures., entered into a fivanjease agreement for the property located at Hair@ale, Houston, Texas. The Company
has recorded a $163,739 deferred gain relatedgdrémsaction for the year ended September 304.20%e gain will be recognized upon
collection of the note receivable. The club's besinwas accounted for as discontinued operatiater @rccounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America and tbegethe club's results of operations and cashsfloawve been removed from the Company's
consolidated results of continuing operations ashdlows for all periods presented in this docunaer such assets and liabilities as of
September 30, 2004 have been netted in one limedtethe balance sheet. The deferred gain is natjaihst the note receivable, included in
other assets in the accompanying balance sheet.

On January 18, 2005, the Company's wholly-ownedididry, RCI Entertainment New York, Inc., a NewrkKa@orporation ("RCI New

York") completed the acquisition of Peregrine Eptises, Inc. ("Peregrine”), which operated the &ammClub in Midtown Manhattan, New
York (50 West 33rd Street). Peregrine owns andaiperan adult entertainment cabaret located inowittManhattan. The cabaret club is
located near the Empire State Building and MadBquare Garden, and is less than 10 blocks from SBggiare. The total consideration \
for $7.775 million for the assets and stock offimener Paradise Club, which had operated on tleefeitmore than a decade. The transaction
consisted of $2.5 million in cash and $5.125 millin a promissory note bearing simple intereshatrate of 4.0% per annum with a balloon
payment at end of five years and transaction afst450,000. The Promissory Note is payable comingnt51 days after Closing as
follows: (a) the payment of $58,333.33 per monthtfeenty-four (24) consecutive months; (b) the papbof $63,333.33 for twentipur (24)
consecutive months; (c) the payment of $68,33083Welve

(12) consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymfthte remaining balance to be paid on the sikst-{61st) month. $2,000,000 of the
principal amount of the Promissory Note is coneetinto shares of restricted common stock at priemging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share.
The parties also entered into a Stock Pledge Ageeeand Security Agreement to secure the Promid¥oty. The results of operations of
club are included in the Company's consolidatetéstant of operations from January 18, 2005.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 150,000
Discounted lease 43,022
Non-compete agreement 100,000
License 7,481,978

Net assets acquired $7,775,000

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of the
immediate preceding period. Peregrine's operatomgor the calendar year 2004. The pro forma médion is not necessarily
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indicative of what would have occurred had the &itjan been made as of such periods, nor is icati/e of future results of operations. ~
pro forma amounts give effect to appropriate adjestts for the fair value of the assets acquiredyrtization of intangibles and interest
expense.

2005 2004
Revenues $ 15,310,407 $16,206,998
Net income (loss) from continuing operations (638,841) 425,320
Net income (loss) (495,148) 87,370
Net income (loss) per share - basic and diluted $ (0.13) $ 0.02

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dade®of its clubs known as 'Rick's South' to MB@géisition LLC for cash $550,000.
In connection with the sale, the Company recordgdia of $291,987. The club's business was accddateas a discontinued operation ur
accounting principles generally accepted in theté¢hStates of America, and therefore, the clulsslte of operations and cash flows have
been removed from the Company's consolidated gesfittontinuing operations and cash flows for aellipds presented and such assets and
liabilities as of September 30, 2004 have beenudad under "Net assets of discontinued operatiottié accompanying balance sheet.
Goodwill in the amount of $83,923 was eliminatedhasresult of this transaction.

On June 10, 2005, the Company's whallyned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment North Carolina,, a North Carolina corporation ("RCI Na
Carolina™) completed the acquisition of a 30,000as¢ foot nightclub in Charlotte, North Carolinda€Thame of the club had been changed
from 'The Manhattan Club' (5300 Old Pineville Rotwl)Rick's Cabaret'. The purchase price of thesation was $1,000,000 through the
issuance of 180,000 shares of restricted commak st@ued at $675,000 and a seven-year promissueyaf $325,000, bearing interest at a
rate of 7% per annum. The note is secured by lipos the assets of and hereafter acquired assBSIdEntertainment (North Carolina), Inc.
The results of operations of the club are incluithealur consolidated statement of operations frofor&&y 1, 2005, when the Company
assumed risk of loss for the club's operations uadeanagement agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the note, on or after Nthar 1, 2005, the holder shall have the right,nmitthe obligation to have the Company
purchase from the holder 4,285 shares per monltylaged at a price per share equal to $3.75 th#iholder has received a total of
$1,000,000 from the sale of the shares less theianud the note. At the Company's election during given month, the Company may eit
buy the monthly shares or, if the Company electambuy the monthly shares from the holder, thentiolder shall sell the monthly shares in
the open market. Any deficiency between the amuaidnith the holder receives from the sale of the iigrgahares and the value of the shares
shall be paid by the Company within three (3) dafythe date of sale of the monthly shares duriag plarticular month. The Company's
obligation to purchase the monthly shares fromhiblder shall terminate and cease at such timeeas th
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holder has received a total of $1,000,000 fromstile of the shares, less the amount of the nadéorPra results of operations have not been
provided, as the amounts were not deemed materiaktconsolidated financial statements. The t@titsafollows the Company's growth

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 111,752
Property & equipment, net depreciation 640,192
Licenses 455,656

Other assets 5,020

Current liabilities assumed (212,620)

Net assets acquired $1,000,000

On July 12, 2005, the Company organized RCI Dafiavices, Inc. ("RCI Dating"), which operates asddition to the Company's internet
operations, to acquire CouplesClick.net from Cligktbh LLC ("ClickMatch"). The Company transferresl @wnership in CouplesTouch.com
to RCI Dating and as a result of the transactienGbmpany obtained an 85% interest in RCI Datirty tiie other 15% owned by

ClickMatch.
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Exhibit 21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Name State of Organization
Bobby's Novelty, Inc. Texas
Broadstreets Cabaret, Inc. Texas
Citation Land LLC Texas
Peregrine Enterprises, Inc New York
RCI Billing, Inc. Texas
RCI Dating Services, Inc. Texas
RCI Debit Services, Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (Ft. Worth), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment (Minnesota), Inc. Minnesota
RCI Entertainment (New York), Inc. New York
RCI Entertainment (North Carolina), Inc. North Carolina
RCI Entertainment (San Antonio), Inc. Texas
RCI Entertainment Texas, Inc. Texas
RCI Holdings, Inc. Texas
RCI Internet Holding, Inc. Texas
RCI Internet Services, Inc. Texas
SRD Vending Company Texas
Tantra Dance, Inc. Texas
Tantra Parking, Inc. Texas
Top Shelf LLC North Carolina
Trumps Inc. Texas

XTC Cabaret, Inc. Texas



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1BK$Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatdisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of Rick's Cabaret Internatioimal. as of, and for, the periods presente
this report;

4. Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s other &grtg officer(s) and | are responsible for estdtilig) and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) for Rick's Cabaret Internatiphad. and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating tokddCabaret International, Inc., including its caidated subsidiaries, is made known to ut
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financélarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance reggitae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Rick's Cabartrhational, Inc.'s disclosure controls and pracesl and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disciosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Rickab&ret International, Inc.'s internal control ofieancial reporting that occurred during
Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s most recesudi year that has materially affected, or is reably likely to materially affect, Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc.'s internal control ofieancial reporting; and

5. Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s other &g officer(s) and | have disclosed, based onrost recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to Rick's Cabaret Inte¢io@al, Inc.'s independent registered public actiogrfirm and the audit committee of Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc.'s board of directorsp@sons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect Rick's Cabérternational, Inc.'s ability to record, processmmarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in Rick's Cabaret
International, Inc.'s internal control over finaaaieporting.

Date: January 5, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan
Chi ef Executive Oficer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE
SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Eric S. Langan, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 1BK$Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaioriny untrue statement of a material fact or dmnéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nistatdisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of Rick's Cabaret Internatioimal. as of, and for, the periods presente
this report;

4. Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s other &grtg officer(s) and | are responsible for estdtilig) and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a}Hhd 15d-15(e)) for Rick's Cabaret Internatiphad. and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procsgdorecaused such disclosure controls and procsdorge designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating tokddCabaret International, Inc., including its caidated subsidiaries, is made known to ut
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financélarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance reggitae reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally@edeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Rick's Cabartrhational, Inc.'s disclosure controls and pracesl and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disciosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Rickab&ret International, Inc.'s internal control ofieancial reporting that occurred during
Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s most recesudi year that has materially affected, or is reably likely to materially affect, Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc.'s internal control ofieancial reporting; and

5. Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.'s other &g officer(s) and | have disclosed, based onrost recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to Rick's Cabaret Inte¢io@al, Inc.'s independent registered public actiogrfirm and the audit committee of Rick's
Cabaret International, Inc.'s board of directorsp@sons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect Rick's Cabérternational, Inc.'s ability to record, processmmarize and report financial information;
and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a sagmiifiole in Rick's Cabaret
International, Inc.'s internal control over finaaaieporting.

Date: January 5, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan
Chi ef Financial Oficer



EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick's Qab#nternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormK8B for the year ended September 30,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the "Report”), |, Erid. 8ngan, Chief Executive Officer of tl
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.135@dmpted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: January 5, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan
Chi ef Executive O ficer



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR
RULE 15d-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. Sec.1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Rick's Qab#nternational, Inc. (the "Company") on FormK8B for the year ended September 30,
2005 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the "Report”), |, Erid. 8ngan, Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Sec.135@&dmpted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbarksr@ct of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finanaaldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: January 5, 2006 By: /s/ Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan
Chi ef Financial Oficer



